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Front cover: Mitchell Johnson
acknowledges SACA Members
after taking 7/40 on day 3 of the
second Test of the Commonwealth
Bank Ashes Series. The Australian
paceman provided one of the
highlights of the summer, ripping
through the English batting order
with six wickets during the second
session to set up a famous victory.
Scan this QR Code to
watch a video package of
the entire redevelopment of
Adelaide Oval: an exclusive
link for SACA Members.

The 143rd Annual and Financial Report
for the year ended 30 June 2014 is to be
presented at the Annual General Meeting
of the South Australian Cricket Association
held in the Ian McLachlan Room at
Adelaide Oval on 17 September 2014.
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SACA STRATEGIC PLAN
2012 - 2014
VISION
To lead the way to be South
Australia’s favourite sport.
MISSION
To dominate cricket in Australia and be
South Australia’s most sought after
membership, be worthy of our loyal fans.
Objective 1
Put cricket fans and SACA
Members first.
Objective 2
Protect and promote SACA’s brands
and reputation.
Objective 3
Dominate Australian domestic
cricket through development of
‘inter nationally-ready’ players and
of ficials and competition success.
Objective 4
Increase participation targeting new
players and fans.

Objective 5
Be a place where our people matter
and are engaged to achieve optimal
perfor mance.
Objective 6
Grow investment and allocate
resources to deliver this strategy.
Objective 7
Contribute to the strategic and cultural
unification of Australian cricket.

PRESIDENT’S REPORT

“The redeveloped Adelaide Oval has been winning
accolades around the world, drawing record crowds and
offering members a whole new range of experiences
during the non-cricket season. I’m sure you, like everyone
at the SACA, eagerly await the sound of bat on ball.”

My father recently died, aged 84 – a good
innings. It led me to reflect on an expression
he often used: “Life’s too short for spectator
sport!” What did he mean? He meant get off
your backside, be active, participate, life is for
living, don’t just watch the world pass you by. In
light of his phrase, how can I be such a strong
advocate for the idea of watching cricket at
the Adelaide Oval?
The redeveloped Adelaide Oval has been
winning accolades around the world, drawing
record crowds and offering members a whole
new range of experiences during the noncricket season. I’m sure you, like everyone at the
SACA, eagerly await the sound of bat on ball.
When first-class cricket returns to the Adelaide
Oval later this year, our members will for the first
time witness a 50,000 seat facility for cricket.
SACA
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Last summer was just the start with the new
Riverbank Stand opening. Now the eastern
grandstand is up and running with a range of
dining areas and bars proving very popular.
Come this summer, SACA members will be
able to view from behind the bowlers’ arm
in the Riverbank Stand or sit in the western
stand. Australia takes on India in December
2014 for the Adelaide Test. The Torrens bridge
fully operating, a range of pop-up food and
beverage outlets lining the river and southern
plaza. The Adelaide Oval will be an
exciting place.
However, one of the most cherished of SACA
member benefits is not derived from these
new facilities but rather from the old – the lawn
village green.

The Adelaide Test Match for many SACA
members is about the social environment,
enjoying the company of friends in a vibrant
carnival atmosphere, unique in the Test cricket
world, interspersed with watching live the
vicissitudes of the game. Our Test Match is
much more than “spectator sport.” My father
can rest easy for I agree with him – life is too
short for spectator sport. Being part of the
Adelaide Oval for Test cricket is more than just
spectating. It is participating, in one of life’s
golden moments.
Off-season there have been some significant
events for SACA as a business. Our staff and
management have returned to our traditional
home at the Adelaide Oval. Our cricket
development teams have been working hard
throughout schools and clinics helping to
grow our game and our membership numbers
remain strong. More than 4,500 people are on
the waiting list, a sign that being a member of
SACA is very much in demand. Together with
my Board, I want to ensure we continue to add
value to your membership and you have a
sense of belonging to the Adelaide Oval.
Financially, SACA is continuing to grow
prudently, generating an operating cash
surplus of approximately $2.4 million. This
cash surplus is a healthy sign particularly
given the new investment of $300,000 in the
2013/14 financial year on the establishment
of the Premier League and investment in
grade, community and country cricket facilities
increasing from $260,000 in 2012/13 to
$320,000 in 2013/14.
I believe first-class success is just around the
corner for the West End Redbacks. Coach
Darren Berry has the right team behind him
and, with some excellent recruiting including
the return of South Australian run machine
Mark Cosgrove, we have high hopes. The
review of last season was strategic and allencompassing. The close losses suffered by
the team hurt us all, from which I can see a
determination to take that next important
step. Likewise with the Adelaide Strikers – they
are ready to bring T20 success back to the
Adelaide Oval and their loyal Strikeforce fans.

The Grade Cricket Review was presented
to SACA Board in May. I thank Rob Zadow,
Bill Baker and Geoff Daly for their hard
work in compiling these comprehensive
recommendations. A working group has
been established, headed by board
member Rod Phillips which includes some
SACA Management and Grade Cricket
representatives. The group has commenced
meeting with the Grade cricket community,
engaging with all Grade clubs to ensure
the key recommendations in the report are
considered in the best interests of the Grade
cricket competition. It will not be a quick
process as there are some serious issues to
consider. However, SACA will continue to work
with Grade Cricket to ensure it remains a robust
club competition, providing exclusive access
to the West End Premier League and State
representation for aspirational talent.
Finally, I thank three people:
The CEO Keith Bradshaw for steering the SACA
through some difficult times in the last 12
months, during which he personally battled
through a second bone marrow transplant to
treat cancer.
My predecessor Ian McLachlan for his
dedication to a vision that the SACA should
have facilities that are the best in the country
at the Adelaide Oval, yet retain the beauty
admired for over 100 years.
Retired Board member Rex Sellers for his
dedication to SA cricket. He has played Test
cricket, won a Sheffield Shield for this State,
and then after playing, overseen both cricket
and football, all for over 55 years. Extraordinary
involvement. I know Rex and his wife Ann are
looking forward to travel and watching lots of
sport at the Adelaide Oval. I wish them the best
for their future.
These three people indeed live by the adage
that “life’s too short for spectator sport.”
I look forward to seeing you during the summer
of 2014/15.
Andrew Sinclair
SACA President

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT
“For SACA Members and indeed all South Australians,
securing the Test as well as South Australia’s World
Cup fixtures should be perceived as a ringing
endorsement of the redeveloped Adelaide Oval
from the highest echelons of cricket.”

For my mind there were five critically important
moments for SACA during 2013/14.
Beyond any doubt delivering a successful
Ashes Test match at a redeveloped Adelaide
Oval was the most significant. While this
required considerable work – the international
season was delivered to public and media
acclaim, and was also profitable.
The successful implementation of the SACA
Premier League will, in the long-term, be
even more significant. More than 150 Grade
cricketers registered to play and to my great
satisfaction four young local players were
rewarded with state team selection based on
their Premier League performances. The ICC
and Cricket Australia have both been watching
the competition with interest, with the first now
making arrangements for Papua New Guinean
games to be televised in that country during
2015. Congratulations to the Eastern Edge for
winning the inaugural title and to batsman
Travis Head as the winner of the Most Valuable
Player. Such was the competition’s success
that the League’s application across female
competitions is being seriously considered
in 2014/15.
The need to secure an India Test match via
a bid process was the third and the most
unexpected challenge during 2013/14
but proved to be a critical achievement –
calculated at being worth approximately
$7 million to SACA’s long-term membership
revenue.
For SACA Members and indeed all South
Australians, securing the Test as well as South
Australia’s World Cup fixtures should be
perceived as a ringing endorsement of the
redeveloped Adelaide Oval from the highest
echelons of cricket.
Once again, I thank the State Government for
partnering with cricket and acknowledge the
contribution it has made to the South Australian
World Cup bid. The culmination of this support
and SACA’s bids has secured South Australia its
strongest ever season.
SACA
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Adelaide Oval will host the opening
international fixture of the summer, when
Australia plays South Africa in a KFC T20
International match on 5 November 2014.

The Test match will follow shortly after,
commencing on 12 December, when the
second ranked Test side, Australia plays fifthranked Test side India in the second match of
the Commonwealth Bank Test Series.
In their nine encounters at Adelaide Oval, the
Australians have been victorious against the
Indians an impressive six times (two draws,
one loss). Mitchell Johnson will no doubt be
hoping to recreate his outstanding form from
last summer, when he dominated with the ball
claiming an impressive 7/40.
Day/night Bupa Sheffield Shield cricket also
makes a welcomed return in round 2 of the
competition as trials continue to find the best
venue to host a day-night Test in future years.
Adelaide Oval will be hosting more
international cricket in the one season than
it ever has before, with a Test match, a T20
International as well as our World Cup fixtures
including the marquee match-up India v
Pakistan and the Quarter Final featuring
Australia should they progress.
South Australian cricket fans can also look
forward to two tour matches between a Cricket
Australia XI and India – with one being played
at Adelaide Oval and the other at the Gliderol
Stadium following the success of Shield cricket
at the venue.
I list participation as the fourth. South Australia
will again, exceed its overall participation
target of 91,357 by June 2015.
As is the case for many sports, the schoolage cohort continues to be the most difficult
to engage but indications are that South
Australia will surpass last year’s school
participation numbers.
Significant inroads have also been made
in reaching out to those in multicultural
communities. Opportunities to capitalise on
these new relationships will underpin SACA’s
World Cup initiatives through the delivery
of four community engagement programs
including a regional tour of the state.
Financial security is fifth but is by no means the
least important. After extended negotiations –
the new financial model between SACA and
CA was executed in February 2014. The model
has been supplemented by the establishment
of the Association’s Facilities and Future Funds.

Above: MILO in2CRICKET kids pose for a photo during the lunch break of the second Test of the
Commonwealth Bank Ashes Series at Adelaide Oval.

Further discussion about the impact of
these initiatives and SACA’s forecast financial
position will be addressed at the Annual
General Meeting.
I am more than optimistic about SACA’s future
and have identified the following as key
priorities for the next two years. In my mind, but
in no particular order they are:
• The proposed development of Park 25.
• Addressing the lack of team success.
• Marketing our products and managing sales
expectations now that we have a 50,000
seat stadium.
• Increasing investment into cricket, which at
Grade level includes SACA-funded coaching
and curatorial teams and funding for
potential club mergers.
• Introducing governance reforms to Grade
cricket.
• Consolidating membership numbers until
the Ashes Test match in 2017/18, significantly
increasing the wait list and delivering greater
value-add opportunities.
• Restructuring SACA’s High Performance
division.
In March 2014, SACA administration returned
home to Adelaide Oval and is now housed in
new offices in the Riverbank Stand. I would like
to acknowledge the professionalism with which
that process was managed and the almost
seamless transition that has been made.

During 2013/14 SACA commissioned an
independent review of Grade Cricket in South
Australia. The report was presented to the
board and separately to representatives from
all Grade clubs on 27 May 2014. Extensive
consultation and discussion has followed
with general agreement about the need for
greater funding support to be accompanied by
governance reforms during 2015.
In the interim, congratulations is owed to the
Port Adelaide Magpies who broke a 46-year
drought to win their first A grade two-day final
since 1967/68 and also to the Kensington
Browns, who claimed their first women’s A grade
premiership.
I remain indebted to a dedicated board and
a committed team of employees. The year
2013/14 was one of the Association’s most
challenging, but as always, their hard work
delivered a season that can be reflected on
with some pride.
Thank you also to the fantastic ongoing support
of our sponsors, in particular West End, principal
partner of the Adelaide Strikers, West End
Redbacks, West End Premier League and West
End Grade Cricket, and People’s Choice Credit
Union, major partner of the Adelaide Strikers.
I would also like to acknowledge BankSA,
who support the BankSA Country Cups and
Carnivals as well partners Toyota, Coca Cola
Amatil, Farmers Union Iced Coffee and Grant
Burge Wines.
Keith Bradshaw
Chief Executive

ICC WORLD CUP

On 15 February 2015, Adelaide
Oval will play host to the most
watched cricket match in history.

Cricket powerhouses and traditional rivals,
India and Pakistan, will face-off in their opening
pool match of the ICC 2015 Cricket World Cup,
in front of an anticipated sell-out crowd of
50,000 at the redeveloped Adelaide Oval.
The match is also expected to draw a
worldwide television audience of more than
1.5 billion people, providing the State
government with the opportunity to showcase
Adelaide to key international markets and
serve as a catalyst for new opportunities in
tourism and trade.
From late January, the Indian team will be
based in Adelaide in the lead-up to, and
during, the group stages of the tournament.
South Australia has an outstanding opportunity
to get significant leverage into India. The
South Australian Tourism Commission will use
the event to market the State as a tourism
destination and other agencies will use the
focus on Adelaide to highlight business and
trade opportunities.
The tournament is a once-in-a-generation
opportunity for South Australian cricket fans
to see the best players and best teams going
head to head in our back yard.
TICKETS
Children’s tickets are available for every
match in the tournament including the Final.
All children’s tickets for the pools stage are $5.
Prices for adults start from just $20, meaning
that a family of four can attend this once in a
generation event from just $50.
The Local Organising Committee of the ICC
Cricket World Cup 2015 have put the focus
firmly on families in their announcement of
ticketing information for the ICC’s flagship
event. The allocation is exhausted for the India
v Pakistan match on 15 February, but tickets
are still available for Adelaide Oval’s two other
group matches and the quarter final.
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For more information visit:
http://tickets.cricketworldcup.com/tickets/
ticket-prices.aspx

HOSPITALITY
Enjoy World Cup action at the newly revamped
Adelaide Oval with state-of-the-art hospitality
facilities. Starting at $550 for premium
packages in one of the stadium’s many
function rooms, enjoy a sit down or cocktail
style event, available for all group matches and
the quarter final.
Private suites and open boxes are available
with a range of seating capacities and provide
the perfect opportunity to entertain guests
during a World Cup match, starting from $2,900
for the Pakistan v Ireland match at Adelaide
Oval on 15 March.
For more information visit:
http://cwc-hospitality.com/venue_
adelaide.htm

ADELAIDE’S MATCHES
INDIA V PAKISTAN
Sunday 15 February, 2015
Players to watch
India – MS Dhoni
Pakistan – Shahid Afridi
ENGLAND V BANGLADESH
Monday 9 March, 2015
Players to watch
England – Eoin Morgan
Bangladesh – Shakib Al Hasan
PAKISTAN V IRELAND
Sunday 15 March, 2015
Players to watch
Pakistan – Umar Akmal
Ireland – Kevin O’Brien
QUARTER FINAL, FRIDAY 20 MARCH, 2015

HIGH PERFORMANCE
Building blocks in place
for future success

When picking through the post-season debrief,
South Australia’s 2013/14 campaign is best
summed up by state coach, Darren Berry:
“We had a very good season, but very good
was not good enough.”
Much like the previous summer, it has been a
period of growth for SA cricket, with a number
of positives from underage level right through to
the elite teams.
Heading into the New Year on top of the Bupa
Sheffield Shield table, there was great hope
of reaching much sought-after success. In the
harsh reality of reflecting on the season, the
West End Redbacks were unable to take their
chances when the opportunity presented itself.
The revised Ryobi One Day Cup format did
not bring with it improvement in the team’s
performance; one win from six matches was a
disappointment and well below expectation.
There is considerable focus now to regroup and
regain the dominant form that the West End
Redbacks had become renowned for in the
shorter form.
The Scorpions enjoyed a year of significant
improvement in all forms under new coach
Andrea McCauley. New talent was unearthed,
with young players Tahlia McGrath and Bridget
Patterson having breakout seasons; the latter
touring Sri Lanka with the Australia A squad.

(Sheffield Shield and Ryobi One Day Cup) and
Michael Klinger (Ryobi One Day Cup).
The West End Premier League was a great
success in year 1 and, with some refinement,
promises even more next season.Many
individual reputations have already been
enhanced through strong performances
in the competition, with a number of these
recognised with West End Redbacks and Toyota
Futures League selection.
Looking forward, the strength of SA’s up and
coming cricketers continues to be an area of
renewed optimism for the future.
The Under 17 male team tasted success
this season, breaking a six-year drought to
win the National Championships. Particular
congratulations to Player of the Championships,
batsman Jake Winter, and fast bowler David
Grant for their standout tournaments.
SACA will continue to build the framework
for success. There is real stability at the top,
with head coach Darren Berry committing to
another two years.
The ending to last season lingers as a great
disappointment; however, cricket in SA
continues to move in a positive direction.
Important foundation stones have been laid for
an exciting era for the sport in this state, and
on-field success will follow.

Phil Hughes remained in the Australian set-up
while Kane Richardson’s selection in the T20
squad shows he remains a future Australian
prospect. There is also a strong belief that
team-mates, such as Callum Ferguson, Tom
Cooper and Chadd Sayers,can continue to
press their claims.
In another sign of the overall growth in SA
cricket, it was pleasing to see three Redbacks
players selected by their peers in the Australian
Cricketers Association teams of the year –
Phil Hughes (Sheffield Shield), Tom Cooper

HIGH
PERFORMANCE
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Opposite page: 2013/14 Neil Dansie medallist, Tom Cooper.

DANSIE MEDAL
RECOGNISES SA TALENT
Tom Cooper dominates exciting
night of awards

South Australian cricket’s best-performed
players were recognised at the 2013/14 Neil
Dansie Presentation at Adelaide Oval.
Tom Cooper was awarded the night’s highest
honour, finishing on 173 votes, ahead of
Michael Klinger (144) and Johan Botha (122).
Cooper dominated the night, also winning
the Ryobi One Day Cup Player of the Year,
the James Irwin Trophy for highest first-class
batting average and the Barry Jarman Most
Improved Trophy.
Callum Ferguson capped off his strong
Bupa Sheffield Shield season, winning the
Lord Hampden Trophy for the most valuable
player during the Bupa Sheffield Shield.
Ferguson regularly featured in the West End
Redbacks top run-scorers, ending the season
with four half-centuries and a century in his
seven matches.
Lauren Ebsary again dominated the women’s
awards, taking home the Andrea McCauley
Trophy as the most outstanding cricketer in the
Women’s National Cricket League (WNCL), as
well as the Women’s National Cricket League
Batting Trophy and Women’s National Cricket
League T20 Batting Trophy.
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Kelvin Smith’s continued development and
hard work was recognised with the Peter Wang
Perpetual Memorial Trophy. Smith made his West
End Redbacks’ debut this season, notching his
maiden first class half-century in just his second
match, and represented Australia in the ICC
U19 World Cup in the United Arab Emirates.
Chadd Sayers was the inaugural recipient
of the Barry “Nugget” Rees Award, which
recognises a player who displays the
characteristics which have defined Barry Rees
as an icon of South Australian cricket – passion,
humility, integrity, team work and respect for the
game of cricket.
Tegan McPharlin took out the SA Scorpions’
Women’s National Cricket League Most
Improved Trophy. McPharlin had an impressive
season with the bat and behind the stumps,
averaging 19.40 from 10 WNCL matches along
with four stumpings and three catches. She had
a standout match against Western Australian
in round three of the Women’s T20 competition,
top scoring with 43 as the Scorpions won by
three wickets with just two balls remaining.

SHELLEY NITSCHKE TROPHY

AE SMITH TROPHY FOR BATTING

Awarded to the most outstanding South
Australian cricketer of the Under 17 Female
National Championships

Awarded to the South Australian cricketer with
the highest batting aggregate in the Under 17
Male National Championships

Amanda Wellington

Jake Winter

MAJOR GENERAL SYMES TROPHY FOR BATTING

AE SMITH TROPHY FOR BOWLING

Awarded to the South Australian cricketer with
the highest batting aggregate in the Under 19
Male Championships

Awarded to the South Australian cricketer with
the highest bowling aggregate in the Under 17
Male National Championships

Kelvin Smith

David Grant

MAJOR GENERAL SYMES TROPHY FOR BOWLING

PETER WANG PERPETUAL MEMORIAL AWARD

Awarded to the South Australian cricketer with
the highest bowling aggregate in the Under 19
Male Championships

Recognises a youth squad cricketer who
displays excellent cricket ability, high work
ethic, admirable team loyalty, distinguished
character and respect for the spirit of
the game.

Sean Nottle

Kelvin Smith

STATE INDIGENOUS PLAYER OF THE YEAR

RYOBI ONE DAY CUP BOWLING TROPHY

Awarded to the best South Australian
Indigenous Cricketer across club and
representative cricket.

Awarded to the South Australian cricketer with
the highest bowling aggregate in the Ryobi
One Day Cup competition.

Luke Lavender

Joe Mennie

WEST END PREMIER LEAGUE WINNERS

THE JAMES IRWIN TROPHY

Awarded to the winners of the West End Premier
League Cup, played across both one and two
day fixtures.

Awarded to the South Australian cricketer with
the highest batting aggregate in all first class
matches.

Eastern Edge

Tom Cooper

WEST END PREMIER LEAGUE MVP

THE WL BRIDGLAND TROPHY

Awarded to the most outstanding West End
Premier League cricketer. Votes were submitted
by coaches of both teams at the conclusion of
each match.

Awarded to the South Australian cricketer with
the highest bowling aggregate in all first class
matches.

Travis Head

Chadd Sayers and Johan Botha
THE LORD HAMPDEN TROPHY

BATTING TROPHY – WOMEN’S NATIONAL LEAGUE
Awarded to the South Australian cricketer with
the highest batting aggregate in the Women’s
National Cricket League.

Awarded to the player who accumulates the
most votes for all matches during the season in
the Bupa Sheffield Shield competition.

Lauren Ebsary

Callum Ferguson

BOWLING TROPHY –
WOMEN’S NATIONAL LEAGUE

BARRY ‘NUGGET’ REES AWARD

Awarded to the South Australian cricketer with
the highest bowling aggregate in the Women’s
National Cricket League.

Awarded to the player who annually displays
passion for South Australia and South Australian
cricket, humility, honesty and integrity, team
work and respect for the game of cricket.

Hannah Perry

Chadd Sayers

MOST IMPROVED TROPHY – SCORPIONS SQUAD

LIMITED OVERS PLAYER OF THE YEAR

Awarded to the South Australian cricketer under
25 years of age, who has displayed significant
improvement in their cricket ability, a high work
ethic, team loyalty, distinguished character
and respect for the game during the past 12
months.

Awarded to the most outstanding South
Australian cricketer in the Ryobi One Day Cup
competitions this season.

Tegan McPharlin

Awarded to the South Australian cricketer under
25 years of age, who has displayed significant
improvement in their cricket ability, a high work
ethic, team loyalty, distinguished character
and respect for the game during the past 12
months.

ANDREA MCCAULEY TROPHY
Awarded to the most outstanding cricketer in
the Women’s National Cricket League.
Lauren Ebsary

Tom Cooper
BARRY JARMAN MOST IMPROVED TROPHY

Tom Cooper
WH HAYES TROPHY FOR BATTING
Awarded to the South Australian cricketer with
the highest batting aggregate in the Futures
League competition.
Jake Lehmann
WH HAYES TROPHY FOR BOWLING
Awarded to the South Australian cricketer with
the highest bowling aggregate in the Futures
League competition.
Nick Winter
RYOBI ONE DAY CUP BATTING TROPHY
Awarded to the South Australian cricketer with
the highest batting aggregate in the Ryobi One
Day Cup competition.
Michael Klinger

NEIL DANSIE MEDAL (MOST VALUABLE PLAYER)
Awarded to the most outstanding South
Australian male cricketer across all forms of
the game, taking into account performance,
competitiveness, team spirit and work ethic.
It is named after the patriarch of South
Australian cricket: Neil Hampton Dansie OAM.
Affectionately known as ‘Nodder’, Neil has
made an immeasurable contribution to sport
in South Australia and has been involved in
cricket in this state for more than 65 years.
Tom Cooper

EMERGING
REDBACKS ACADEMY
The 2013/14 Emerging Redbacks Academy is
a program now firmly entrenched in the SACA
system, aimed at providing immediate depth
to the West End Redbacks’ contract list and
nurture young, up and coming players for the
future.
Two critical goals continue to be the focus for
the program:
1. Identify potential players who can
impact long term for South Australia
and ideally, Australia.
2. Fast track players to be ‘first-class ready’
at the earliest possible time to ensure that
South Australia has quality depth in its
system to enhance the chances of long-term
sustainable success at the domestic level, in
all forms of the game.
THE SELECTED SQUAD FOR THE 2013/14
SEASON WAS:
Ben Dougall (East Torrens)
Tim Evans (Tea Tree Gully)
Joel Garrett (Glenelg)
Josh Hoffman (Port Adelaide)
Jake Lehmann (East Torrens)
Matthew Nobes (Glenelg)
Tom Derham (West Torrens)
Steven Gilmour (Port Adelaide)
James Munting (Glenelg)
Carl Tietjens (Woodville)
Jace O’Hara (Tea Tree Gully)
Cameron Williams (Northern Districts)
Nick Benton (Port Adelaide)
Luke Robins (East Torrens)
Tim Davey (Tea Tree Gully)
Thomas Andrews (Woodville)
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IN ADDITION, OTHER INVITED PLAYERS
JOINED THE SQUAD FOR SHORT- AND
LONGER-TERM COMMITMENTS:
Connor McLean (Northern Districts)
Joel Logan (Northern Territory)
Harry Nielsen (Woodville)
Jack Pudney (Glenelg)
Nick Clayfield (Glenelg)
Brad Evans (Tea Tree Gully)
Matt Weaver (Tea Tree Gully)
Cameron Valente (Adelaide)
Brenton McDonald (Port Adelaide)

A highlight of the 2013/14 program was the
progression of several members to participate
on a full-time basis with the West End Redbacks’
contract squad, and even earning selection
in the Redbacks teams. Of the original squad,
James Munting represented South Australia
in Bupa Sheffield Shield cricket, and Tim Evans
and Thomas Andrews were selected in squads
for either Ryobi One Day Cup or Bupa Sheffield
Shield. Matt Weaver forced his way into the
Ryobi One Day Cup team through outstanding
West End Premier League performances, and
joined the squad for the balance of the
2013/14 season.
Additionally, it was pleasing to see a good
proportion of the squad selected for Toyota
Futures League cricket during the season.
James Munting, Tim Davey, Thomas Andrews,
Ben Dougall, Tim Evans, Jake Lehmann, Nick
Benton, Brenton McDonald and Harry Nielsen all
played for the South Australian Futures League
team at different times during the summer.
Many other players also excelled with their
performance in West End Premier League and
Grade cricket, highlighted by five players (Tim
Davey, Tim Evans, Jake Lehmann, Carl Tietjens
and Nick Benton) selected in the SACA Grade
Team of the Year.
One of the great strengths of the Emerging
Redbacks’ program is the quality of coaching
and support to which the players are exposed.
Former Australian coach Tim Nielsen continues
to oversee the program. Shane McDermott
as assistant coach is outstanding in his
preparation, organisation and development
of players and Trent Kelly and Peter Sleep offer
tremendous knowledge for young pace bowlers
and spinners in the squad.
The Emerging Redbacks Academy will
continue to play a vital supporting role in
the development of players for the West End
Redbacks in the short, medium and
longer term.

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN SCHOLARSHIPS
UNDER 17s CLAIM
Spinner Tom Andrews
NATIONAL TITLE
completes season
South Australia was crowned National
Champions at the Cricket Australia Under 17
Male National Championships in Adelaide in
January.
Following in the footsteps of the victorious
Under 19s in 2012/13, the South Australian
Under 17 side broke a six-year drought to claim
the title.
Needing a victory in their final match against
the ACT, South Australia posted 280, batting first.
The in-form Jake Winter top scored with 87 while
Nikolas Kartas (52), Patrick Page Jnr (41) and
Damon Kerr (37) provided good support.
The ACT suffered an early setback, losing
opener Henry Hunt, bowled by David Grant for
just one. It was Nicholas Fox, however, who stole
the show, claiming 4/19 from 13 overs, tearing
through the ACT top order and setting up the
win for his side. Grant finished with 2/36 while
Ayden McGregor-Baptista (2/21), Isaac Boylan
(1/34) and Michael Cormack (1/48) were also
amongst the wickets.
Opening batsman Jake Winter was named
Player of the Championships having compiled
389 runs in five games for the home side at an
average of 77.8 and was joined in the Team
of the Championships by teammate and fast
bowler David Grant. Grant finished with
10 wickets from five games with best figures
of 4/45.
AWARDS:
Spirit of Cricket Award: Tasmania
Player of the Championships: Jake Winter
Leading Wicket Taker: Kyle Scrimegour
(Northern Territory) (12 Wickets)
Leading Run Maker: Jake Winter (South
Australia) (389 Runs)
Leading Dismissals By a Fielder: Jonathan Rose
(New South Wales) (14 Dismissals)

program

The Basil Sellers Scholarship Program continued
in the 2013/14 season, once again with
generous support from Basil Sellers. Tom
Andrews was the successful recipient to
complete the season’s program.
Tom is a left-arm orthodox spinner and lefthand batsman from the Woodville District
Cricket Club, having progressed through
the Cricket Australia pathway from the
Northern Territory youth program. As part of
the scholarship, Tom was employed full-time
by the SACA High Performance department
while undertaking a Certificate III in Sport and
Recreation and also training with the West End
Redbacks squad.
During his scholarship this season, Tom was
selected in the Australian Under 19 World Cup
team that played in the Youth World Cup. He
also represented South Australia in the Toyota
Futures League and was selected in the squad
of 13 for the last Bupa Sheffield Shield match
against Tasmania.
Tom has learnt many new skills, including
providing a crucial role in assisting the High
Performance Data Analyst Richard Adam in
the preparation for all first-class, Ryobi One Day
Cup and KFC T20 Big Bash League matches. He
will spend the winter months in 2014 training at
the National Cricket Centre in Brisbane as part
of the High Performance squad intake for 2014.
Kelvin Smith was the recipient of the Kerry
Packer Foundation scholarship in season
2013/14. He was employed as an assistant
groundsman working with Trent Kelly for TK Turf
Services, while also training with the West End
Redbacks.
Kelvin made his first-class debut for the West
End Redbacks this season. He played in three
Bupa Sheffield Shield matches. The highlight
was his maiden first-class half century, making
57 in the win over Western Australia at the
WACA.He also has spent the winter months in
2014 training at the National Cricket Centre to
prepare for next season.

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN DEBUTS
WEST END REDBACKS

SA SCORPIONS

Bupa Sheffield Shield

Ryobi One Day Cup

Kelvin Smith

Brenton McDonald

Adam Zampa

Sam Miller

Trent Lawford

Andrew McDonald

James Munting

Adam Zampa

Andrew McDonald

Matt Weaver

Hannah Perry
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SCORPIONS’
SEASON REVIEW
WOMEN’S NATIONAL CRICKET LEAGUE

SCORPIONS’ T20

The promotion of Andrea McCauley to head
coach paid dividends for the SA Scorpions
this season and saw the emergence of new
talent as the team finished the season in fourth
position. Again led by captain, Lauren Ebsary,
and vice-captain, Rhianna Peate, the Scorpions
were a much improved team.

The T20 campaign was a vast improvement on
previous seasons, finishing just one win away
from a top-four finish and finals berth.

Commencing the season with three home
rounds, the Scorpions recorded their first 50over win against Western Australia in round
3. Ebsary’s 67 anchored the team’s innings
and with contributions from Bridget Patterson
(27), Rhianna Peate (23) and Tahlia McGrath
(25), the Scorpions posted 7/221 – a total that
proved too much for the visitors. Impressive
figures of 4/22 from NSW recruit Hannah Perry
highlighted her arrival in the red and black.
The Scorpions were on a roll when they cruised
to victory against Queensland the following
round. Another half century to Ebsary (65)
and more runs to Peate (34) and McGrath
(31) helped the score past 200. Megan Schutt
(3/37), Jakarra Hill (3/23) and spinner Amanda
Wellington (2/26) did the damage with the ball
and put the Scorpions in the top half of the
ladder at the midpoint of the season.
Losses to eventual finalists ACT and winners
NSW put a dent in the Scorpions’ finals hopes;
however, there were still plenty of promising
signs coming from the SA batters. Another
dominant display from Ebsary (50) was
complemented by solid performances from
McPharlin and Peate, the latter falling two runs
short of her first domestic half-century.
A last-round clash against Tasmania at
Blundstone Arena proved to be a tight tussle
with the Scorpions chasing down 197 with
four overs remaining. Beth Morgan finished the
season in style, her 68 from 84 balls a seasonhigh for the former English international.
Season 2013/14 saw a number of players come
of age, as well as the debut of former NSW
cricketer Perry. The move across the border paid
off for the spinner, who finished the season with
six WNCL games and nine wickets to her name.

After a tough first round against Victoria, the
Scorpions recorded wins against Queensland
and Western Australia, the latter a nail-bitting
affair with the victory secured with just two balls
to spare. McPharlin’s 43 from 38 balls was the
key in the small chase and was a fine example
of the keeper’s ability with the willow.
The Scorpions bounced back from an
unsuccessful weekend against NSW and
the ACT with two commanding wins against
Tasmania. Schutt was a standout with the ball
across the weekend, her figures of 3/11 and 0/8
restricting the home side’s scoring and ability to
remain at the crease.
Patterson further improved on an impressive
debut year, scoring 178 runs, including a
run-a-ball half-century against Queensland
in Round 4, in just her second season in
the red. Patterson’s breakout season was
further recognised with selection in the
Commonwealth Bank Shooting Stars’ tour of Sri
Lanka in February.
Leading from the front, Ebsary complied 384
runs in 12 T20 matches at an average of 48; her
form earning selection in the Commonwealth
Bank Shooting Stars’ tour match against
England in an Ashes warm-up in early
January. Opening bowler Schutt retained her
Australian contract and was a member of the
Commonwealth Bank Southern Stars squad
that narrowly missed out on regaining the
Women’s Ashes.
The season also marked the end of an era for
experienced duo Neisha Iles and Alicia Dean
who announced their retirement from domestic
cricket. Since making her debut in the 2002/03
season, Iles played 71 one-day matches and
41 T20s, claiming a total of 78 wickets with her
deceiving swing bowling. Dean called it a day
after 107 matches (61 One-Day and 46 T20s)
and 107 dismissals: the energetic wicket keeper
impressing with her athleticism and enthusiasm
both on and off the field. Both players were the
backbone of the Scorpions team for a period of
time, their experience and personality a feature
of their game.

RYOBI ONE DAY CUP
SEASON REVIEW
In a revamped format in 2013, Cricket
Australia revised the structure of the Ryobi
One Day Cup with a 20-game tournament in
Sydney across multiple venues in September
and October.
The West End Redbacks were unable to
replicate their winning form from previous
seasons, with two heartbreaking losses
to Tasmania weakening their chances of
progressing further.

It was a day to forget against the XXXX Gold
Queensland Bulls with a 90-run loss at North
Sydney Oval. Adam Zampa was the standout,
taking 2/29 and belting 66 from just 50 balls,
including eight boundaries and four sixes.

A hard-hitting 86 from Cameron White and 65
from Rob Quiney in a 95-run partnership proved
the difference as the Bushrangers chased down
the total with 13 balls to spare.

Cooper was again outstanding in the final rainaffected match against the NSW Blues, making
73 from just 62 balls, but too much was left to
the number-three batsman as only Ludeman
(34 off 29) and Zampa (20 off 11) got starts.

The re-match in game 3 proved just as thrilling,
but again South Australian hearts were broken
as Ben Hilfenhaus hit the winning runs with one
ball remaining.
Peter George shone with the ball in his return to
the West End Redbacks’ one day side with 3/27
while Klinger (74) again led the way as the
West End Redbacks posted 210.

SACA
A N N U A L
R E P O R T
13/14

20

With the season on the line in the remaining
two matches, the West End Redbacks were
unable to get the points.

Launching the season against traditional
rivals the Commonwealth Bank Bushrangers
at Bankstown Oval, a composed 47 not out
from debutant Sam Miller guided the West End
Redbacks to 6/232 from 50 overs.

A brilliant century from opener Michael Klinger
(140 not out) and 65 from Tom Cooper wasn’t
enough in game 2 as the Tasmanian Tigers
chased down the Redbacks’ 266 target with just
one ball remaining.

HIGH
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The breakthrough win came against the
Alcohol. Think Again Western Warriors as
Cooper’s man of the match performance
(101) in a 188-run partnership with Klinger
(91) set up another tight finish; the West End
Redbacks reaching the 286-run target with
nine balls to spare.

Joe Mennie finished with 4/58 and Johan
Botha, who narrowly missed taking a hat trick,
had figures of 2/29 from eight overs.
Klinger (380 at 76.00) and Cooper (294 runs
at 49.00) were the standout batsmen from the
competition, both making a century and two
half-centuries from the six matches.
Mennie was the best of the bowlers with nine
wickets at 27.66 and he was well supported by
George (six wickets at 27.50) and Botha (six
wickets at 43.83).

BUPA SHEFFIELD SHIELD
SEASON REVIEW

Close loss obscures a summer of major cricket growth
There was a sense of déjà vu at Adelaide Oval
in early March – a Bupa Sheffield Shield final on
the line and a dramatic final session.
As the clock ticked past 9pm, just one wicket
was needed as the West End Redbacks toiled
away with a pink ball, in the first official daynight match to be played in Adelaide.
Near misses and close calls denied South
Australia a final berth against NSW, and
as occurred 12 months earlier against
Western Australia, the opportunity came
agonisingly close.
The 2013/14 season may be remembered for
the disappointing end to what had promised
so much, but it should be recorded as
another summer of huge growth for South
Australian cricket.
First-class cricket went to the suburbs in the
season opener as the West End Redbacks
played out a draw with Queensland.
Tom Cooper made an early statement to
the competition with a blistering 171 in the
first innings.
An inspired spell of bowling from Chadd Sayers
and back-to-back half-centuries from Travis
Head helped the West End Redbacks claim
their first win of the season at the WACA in
Perth. Sayers took seven wickets for the match
while Head’s scores of 51 and 92 guided South
Australia to victory.
Adelaide Oval held its first sporting fixture
since the redevelopment as the West End
Redbacks’ spinners dominated in front of a day
one crowd of more than 6,500 people. Skipper
Johan Botha and Adam Zampa ripped through
the Warriors’ line-up while South Australia
claimed first-innings points in cricket’s return
to the ground, but Western Australia held on
for a draw.
The West End Redbacks moved into second
position on the Bupa Sheffield Shield table
after the drawn match against Tasmania. The
final day saw 457 runs scored along with 12
wickets as both sides pushed for six points.
Head stood out despite narrowly missing out
again on a century.
Against traditional rivals Victoria, pacemen
Kane Richardson and Gary Putland ripped
through the Bushrangers as the West End
Redbacks claimed first-innings points on day
one. Centuries to Phil Hughes and Callum
Ferguson steered the visitors to their second
consecutive Shield victory at the MCG.

Another Hughes century and a Putland-inspired
effort with the ball ensured the West End
Redbacks were top of the table heading into
the Christmas break. Hughes’ 118 and Putland’s
4/35 in the second innings secured the win,
as a cool head from Ferguson on the final day
guided South Australia home.
Cooper continued his outstanding season
in the new year, blasting 175 as he again
tormented the Queensland attack. Sayers
and Joe Mennie took three wickets each to
rip through the Bulls’ line-up and set up first
innings points. But an unbeaten 182 by Usman
Khawaja guided Queensland to a remarkable
victory at the Gabba.
Michael Klinger was back to his best against
the Bushrangers at Adelaide Oval, belting a
double century, while Tim Ludeman notched
his first Sheffield Shield ton as the West End
Redbacks dominated Victoria. Richardson was
the best of the bowlers with four wickets in the
second innings, but Victoria hung on to force a
frustrating draw.
The equation was simple with two games
remaining, but again the West End Redbacks
were denied as the NSW Blues held on in a
dramatic day-night Sheffield Shield match.
Ferguson was the standout batsman making
97 and 59, while Botha and Richardson were
gallant with the ball.
It was a disappointing end to the 2013/14
season, as the West End Redbacks were
outplayed by the Tasmanian Tigers in Hobart.
Andrew McDonald guided the visitors out of
trouble on day 1, top scoring with 82. Sayers
took four wickets and battled hard, but a
remarkable double century from Evan Gulbis
denied the Redbacks any chance of a Bupa
Sheffield Shield final.
Cooper’s season must be recognised, finishing
second in the Bupa Sheffield Shield run-scoring
with 881 runs at 51.82. Ferguson was influential
in a number of matches and was also a
standout, making 565 runs at 56.50. Hughes’
numbers continue to impress; he made 597
runs at 54.27 from just six matches.
Sayers again shone with the ball, taking 36
wickets and he shared the spoils with Botha,
also claiming 36 scalps as they finished equal
third in the competition’s wicket takers.

STRIKERS READY
TO REDEEM
The Adelaide Strikers met the third instalment
of the KFC T20 Big Bash League with much
optimism, largely off the back of the West End
Redbacks’ all-conquering start to the Bupa
Sheffield Shield season, and the addition of
the world’s leading T20 batsman, Englishman
Alex Hales.
Hales was joined by three new additions –
young leg-spinner Adam Zampa from the
Sydney Thunder, and Canberra-based duo,
Jono Dean and Ben Oakley.
Only Tasmanian thunderstorms could stop
the Strikers’ season starting in a blaze of glory
against the Hurricanes. In what was meant
to be a reduced eight-over match, Hales
plundered 49 off 19 to have the Strikers in the
commanding position of 1/81 from six overs,
before a downpour that meant the match had
to be abandoned.
The Sydney Thunder had lost 14 consecutive
games going into the Strikers’ second match
of the season but they seemed almost certain
to end the streak when their new captain Mike
Hussey dominated with the bat. The Thunder
needed just 26 off the last 24 balls after the
Strikers had posted 153; but the ‘Wild Thing’
Shaun Tait had other ideas. Tait grabbed the
critical Hussey wicket in the final over and kept
the home side to just three final over runs to win
in a thriller by six runs.
The Strikers’ first home game of BBL|03 was the
New Year’s Eve extravaganza against the host
of the past three BBL finals, the Perth Scorchers.
The Adelaide Oval, featuring the brand new
Riverbank Stand, was alive with more than
26,000 fans wearing blue wigs and flashing
glasses. It was party mode out in the middle
as well as Michael Klinger led the Strikers in
a successful run chase. Klinger blasted an
unbeaten 86 from just 55 balls and brought up
the winning runs with a six to send the Strikers
into 2014 on top of the BBL ladder.
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A thumb injury for Johan Botha meant a spot
for an international was available and the
Strikers became the first BBL team to sign a
player from Bangladesh. Shakib Al Hasan,
the number-one-ranked international T20 allrounder, made an immediate impact against
the Sydney Sixers at Adelaide Oval. Shakib top
scored with 46 off 30 balls and took 2/21 with
the ball, but it wasn’t enough to get the Strikers
home as the Sixers reached the target of 150
with five balls to spare.

Sitting at two wins, one loss, and one no-result,
the Strikers faced probably the toughest
two assignments in the BBL of recent years:
the Melbourne Stars at the MCG and the
Perth Scorchers at the WACA. The Stars were
undefeated and remained that way until their
knockout semi-final. The men in blue were
never really in the contest, posting a miserly
91 batting first which was never close enough.
Backing up in the west, the Scorchers set an
imposing target of 204, with batsman Craig
Simmons blasting a century off a BBL record 39
balls. But the Strikers were up for the fight, with
Phil Hughes making 58 along with cameos from
Nathan Reardon (30 off 18) and Tim Ludeman
(15 off 5) in the final overs. Unfortunately, the
Strikers fell just an agonising five runs short in
one of the games of the summer.
The Strikers had two home games to finish the
season and needed two wins for a shot at a
BBL semi-final. A fantastic bowling performance,
led by Botha with 2/11, kept the Brisbane Heat
to just 129 and the stage was set on a warm
Saturday afternoon at Adelaide Oval.
But in what had become a growing trend,
the batsmen and bowlers couldn’t fire on the
same day, and the Strikers were dismissed well
short of their target. Pride was on the line in
the final home game against the Melbourne
Renegades, and 21,679 people turned out on
a Wednesday night, making the Strikers the
only BBL team to attract four home crowds of
over 20,000.
They were entertained in another thrilling finish,
but eventually just left short, as the Strikers
finished the year with a one-run loss and
languishing in seventh spot on the BBL ladder.
All-rounder Michael Neser’s consistent
contributions earned him the MVP award for
the season; in eight games, Neser shone as
one of the Strikers’ leading wicket-takers, with
10 scalps at a strike rate of 14.10, along with 53
runs at a strike rate of 101.92 with the bat.
Paceman Kane Richardson was also a shining
light and was selected in Australia’s T20 squad
for three games against England.

ADELAIDE STRIKERS IN THE COMMUNITY
The 2013/14 KFC T20 Big Bash League season
(BBL|03) generated record viewings and
attracted new audiences with the introduction
of free-to-air television via Channel Ten. This
saw national ratings increase to an average of
930,000 viewers per match and the Adelaide
Strikers hosting four sell-out matches at
Adelaide Oval.
With the completion of Adelaide Oval’s
Riverbank Stand, the Adelaide Strikers’ season
provided fans with new facilities and exciting
entertainment, offering a light and dance show
spectacular at the inaugural New Year’s Eve
match that was well received by more than
28,000 fans.
The match day experiences were successfully
delivered throughout the season, with more
than 94,000 fans sharing their excitement for
the Strikers at the world class stadium.

Success continued in BBL|03, with the league
getting into the hearts and minds of new fans,
attracting record attendances of more than
650,000, including a further increase in the
number of females, families and children from
BBL|02. 51% of female fans attended for the
first time while 48% of families attended their
first game in BBL|03. Through higher levels of
fan engagement and match attendances,
commercial results increased from 2012/13
to 2013/14.
Partnering with the Leukaemia Foundation for
a second year, the Adelaide Strikers helped
raise $10,000 through the support of players
and fans taking part taking part in the World’s
Greatest Shave campaign.
Thank you to our partners West End and
Peoples’ Choice Credit Union, who for three
consecutive years have shown their generous
support of the team.

PREMIER LEAGUE
HAS THE EDGE
The Eastern Edge took all before them in
2013/14 to run away as dominant winners of
the inaugural West End Premier League.
The competition, formed as a new elite
pathway for cricketers to gain selection at state
level, commenced in September 2013 in both
Adelaide and Darwin.

SACA Competitions Manager, Aaron Tuckfield,
said the inclusion of teams from outside South
Australia had strengthened the competition
and enhanced its success.

The PNG Digicel Barramundis notched their first
historic win against the Southern Force in round
2 in Darwin. In the four-wicket win, Mahura Dai
led the way with 47 not out while Raymond
Haoda ripped through the Force taking 4/33.

“The season kicked off with a series of games
played up in Darwin which coincided with
the Redbacks’ pre-season program, giving
our younger players a great chance to rub
shoulders with and learn from the state’s best,”
he said.

The Eastern Edge won the top of the table
battle in rounds 3 and 5 and maintained their
lead until February.
Unbeaten from nine matches, the Edge finished
with 54 points in total, 11 ahead of runners-up,
the Northern Mavericks.
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It was the Northern Territory’s Troy Ryan who
dominated with the ball, claiming 15 wickets at
an average of 31.20 from eight matches.

The Edge and the Northern Mavericks both
announced themselves as the two leading
contenders with strong performances in the
first few rounds.

The Northern Territory Strike also enjoyed early
success, defeating the Barramundis in round
1 and following up with a win against the
Southern Force in round 2.
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Edge batsmen Tim Evans (460 runs at 57.50)
and Alex Ross (429 at 71.50) led the run
scoring along with the Northern Mavericks’
Isaiah Borgas (421 at 84.20).

“The inclusion of the NT Strike and PNG Digicel
Barramundis ensured a level of variety many of
our players haven’t experienced before, and it
was also a great initiative for SA country cricket
when the SA Outbacks were invited to be a part
of the T20 format of the competition.
“SACA is currently working with Grade cricket to
ensure we have another successful season of
Premier League cricket and minimal clash with
the Grade cricket fixture.”

EVENTS
INTERNATIONAL CRICKET

DOMESTIC CRICKET

The 2013/14 summer featured two international
cricket fixtures, attracting record crowds at
Adelaide Oval, along with the opening of the
Riverbank Stand on day 1 of the second Test of
the Commonwealth Bank Ashes Series.

The popularity of the Adelaide Strikers and the
KFC T20 Big Bash League grew again with the
move to free-to-air coverage on Channel 10.
The Adelaide Strikers was the only team to have
more than 20,000 fans at all four home games
in BBL|03, including more than 26,000 for the
first New Year’s Eve game at Adelaide Oval.

Cricket on Australia Day returned to Adelaide
Oval with the fifth and final match in the
Carlton Mid ODI Series, also against England.
The December Test match saw more than
30,000 fans attend on days 1–4 for the first time
at Adelaide Oval.
With a total of 62,817 members attending the
Test, and 153,973 fans in total, it was the highest
Test attendance in the modern era at Adelaide
Oval, and the fifth highest attendance ever.
Commonwealth Bank Series Test match
attendance figures
Day 1
Day 2
Day 3
Day 4
Day 5
Total

34,116
35,488
36,414
33,754
14,201
153,973

Carlton Mid One-Day International
attendance figures
26 Jan 2014

Australia v England

27,071

Media
The opening of the Riverbank Stand for the
Ashes welcomed more than 150 working
journalists to the brand new media centre.
A total of 120 print journalists enjoyed the
new surrounds, including many of the major
news services based in London such as The
Independent, Daily Mirror, The Guardian, News
of the World, Daily Telegraph and The Sun.
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KFC T20 Big Bash League
31 Dec 2013

Strikers v Perth Scorchers 26,030

5 Jan 2014

Strikers v Sydney Sixers

26,535

18 Jan 2014

Strikers v Brisbane Heat

20,599

22 Jan 2014

Strikers v Melbourne
Renegades

21,679

Bupa Sheffield Shield
Bupa Sheffield Shield matches were again
opened to the public as a free event. The
opening match of the season was held at
Glenelg’s Gliderol Stadium because of the
Adelaide Oval redevelopment.
In the return of cricket to Adelaide Oval, day
1 of the Bupa Sheffield Shield match against
Western Australia attracted the biggest
attendance at the ground for a first-class
match since day 5 of the 1995/96 Sheffield
Shield final.
The official attendance of 6,974 was the
largest single-day crowd since 15,000 fans
watched South Australia claim their last Bupa
Sheffield Shield title against Western Australia
in March 1996.
Cricket Australia also trialled a day/night
round of matches in March, with play
beginning at 2pm.
30 Oct – 2 Nov 2013

SA v QLD

1,500*

13–16 Nov 2013

SA v WA

17,345

The official broadcaster, Channel 9, also joined
BSkyB from England, while ABC Grandstand and
BBC radio were the official radio broadcasters.

22–25 Nov 2013

SA v TAS

6,318

20–23 Feb 2014

SA v VIC

4,865

3–6 Mar 2014

SA v NSW

5,618

A number of online content producers also
were accredited, offering cricket fans real-time
updates on a variety of social media platforms
during the summer.

*Approximate figure only – match played at Gliderol Stadium.

Opposite page, top (from left): The SACA Members’
enclosure; journalists working hard in the new media centre
in the Riverbank Stand on day 1.
Middle: The Australian team stands in front of SACA
Members in the Sir Donald Bradman Pavilion for a minute’s
silence after the passing of Nelson Mandela; the arches of
the original western stand.
Bottom: SACA president Andrew Sinclair with the South
Australian Premier, the Hon. Jay Weatherill MP, at the
opening of the Riverbank Stand before day 1; Adelaide
Strikers captain, Johan Botha with Adelaide Crows captain,
Nathan van Berlo and West End Redbacks paceman,
Chadd Sayers.

GAME DEVELOPMENT
ANNUAL CRICKET
CENSUS
SACA is on target to
achieve ambitious
participation milestone

Volunteer operations
boosted by SACA support

For more than a decade, SACA has monitored
cricket participation in South Australia as part
of its commitment to Cricket Australia’s vision
of being Australia’s favourite sport. After the
2011/12 season, during which SACA recorded
77,716 outdoor and indoor cricket participants,
a challenging target was set to exceed
100,000 participants by the completion of the
2014/15 season. During this three-year period,
SACA’s strategy has been to focus on entry
level participation and school cricket
programs to build a solid base for cricket’s
participation pathway.
SACA is on target to achieve this milestone,
with the strategy already leading to increased
numbers of participants; in particular, the
Under 9 and Under 10 club cricket competitions
in the metropolitan area.
During 2013/14 cricket participation in South
Australia was as follows:
Club cricket competitions
School cricket programs
Entry Level Programs
Total ‘outdoor’ cricket participation
Indoor cricket competitions
Total cricket participation in SA

28,270
24,803
31,385
84,458
11,083
95,541

In conjunction with Cricket Australia, the SACA
Cricket Department is once again reviewing
its cricket participation strategies. Key themes
will be transitioning and retaining participants
in club competitions as well as providing
increased opportunities to members of
diverse communities.
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CRICKET
PARTNERSHIP
PROGRAM

In 2013/14, SACA significantly expanded its
support of community cricket, assisting an
increased number of associations and clubs
with their volunteer operations. By using SACA’s
regional Country Cricket Development Officers,
important relationships were further developed
by providing tailored information sessions and
then strengthened with follow-up planning and
training sessions for volunteers in regional and
metropolitan areas.
SACA’s Cricket Partnership Program works
closely with the Office for Recreation and
Sport’s STARCLUB Program and the affiliated
clubs and associations, by assisting volunteers
with club development goals and best-practice
methods. Administrators have access to risk
management and insurance programs, as well
as policies and procedures, including member
protection and child-safe policies. Additionally,
free national police checks for volunteers,
subsidised coach and umpire accreditation,
West End Redbacks and Adelaide Strikers
memorabilia, plus training and education
opportunities on health, alcohol and drugs
are available for associations and clubs.
Volunteers from community and Grade cricket
competitions are also recognised at a range of
events during the cricket season.
All 45 cricket associations and over 350 clubs
in South Australia have joined the SACA Cricket
Partnership Program.

NATIONAL VOLUNTEER RECOGNITION DAY:
400 RECEIVE CALLS
Each season, SACA’s Cricket Partnership
Program acknowledges the tireless efforts of
South Australia’s community cricket volunteers.
In 2013/14, SACA and Cricket Australia
conducted the National Volunteer Recognition
Day, kick starting the season with staff and
players telephoning volunteers on the first
selection night with a thank you and good luck
message. More than 400 volunteers in South
Australia were contacted.
In January, SACA held the Regional Community
Cricket Awards, a new initiative that aims
to recognise outstanding volunteers across
various formats including entry-level MILO
in2CRICKET and T20 Blast, club and school
cricket programs. Finalists from the metropolitan
and country regions were on hand to see the
seven regional winners collect their awards
from SACA chief executive, Keith Bradshaw, with
120 guests enjoying the proceedings during an
Adelaide Strikers BBL night match. The highlight
was the announcement of the South Australian
Community Cricket Volunteer of the Year, Kevin
Crosby, who represented SA at this summer’s
Cricket Australia National Recognition event.
Actively involved in the sport for more than 50
years as a player, administrator, and coach,
Mr Crosby was a long-term volunteer with
Cleve Cricket Club (Eyre Peninsula Cricket
Association), and had a 40-year association
with the Country Cup – later the Bank SA
Country Cup (Eyre Peninsula and South East
regional teams) prior to moving to Adelaide.
Over the past decade, Mr Crosby has been a
strong supporter of promoting women’s cricket
from early ages through to senior cricket,
coaching at Sturt District and Kensington
District Cricket Clubs. His enthusiasm for
coaching over many years saw him awarded
the Cricket Australia 50 Year Service to Cricket
award in 2013, and he continues to provide his
time and experience to players of all ages.
More than 220 volunteers visited Adelaide
Oval in February to attend the annual SACA
Volunteer Recognition Ceremony, hosted
in the McLachlan Room during the final of
the Country Living Homes Statewide T20
Champions Cup. SACA President Andrew
Sinclair presented the SACA’s 25 Year Service
Medal to 30 worthy recipients.

Above: South Australian Community Cricket
Volunteer of the Year, Kevin Crosby, with SACA
chief executive, Keith Bradshaw.

Cricket Australia’s 50 Year Service to Cricket
gold pins were awarded to five remarkable,
long-serving South Australian volunteer cricket
supporters: David Angove, Russell Wight, Merlin
Amos, Peter O’Brien, and Denis Brien.
During the ceremony, SACA also congratulated
Kevin Crosby, the 2013/14 South Australian
Cricket Volunteer of the Year, and heard from
guest speaker and SA sporting legend, Ken
Cunningham, representing the Australian
Cricketer’s Association.
SAMCA CUPS: COMMUNITY PATHWAYS
ACROSS THE REGIONS
The South Australian Metropolitan Cricket
Association (SAMCA) continues to work closely
with SACA by coordinating metropolitan
representative competitions and promoting
community cricket pathways within Adelaide’s
regional areas.
In January each season, junior representative
competitions are held between the Adelaide
Turf Cricket Association, Para Districts Cricket
Association and the South Central, Western
Suburbs and North Eastern Junior Cricket
Associations.
This season’s grand finals began with the North
Eastern team defeating the South Central team
in the Under 11s, with Samuel Rahaley bowling
his team to victory with a SAMCA bowling
record of 8/7. In the Under 13s, South Central
went undefeated over the week, accounting
for Western Suburbs in the final. During the
second week, the Under 15s competition
only managed to play one reduced overs
match, with extremely hot weather forcing the
abandonment of the remaining games. Both
North and South teams from the Adelaide Turf
Association managed a win against the teams
from Para Districts and South Central.
At the Under 21 level, round robin matches were
played between the Adelaide Turf, Churches
and Community and the Para Districts Cricket
Associations. Para Districts and Adelaide Turf
played off in the final at Woodville Oval, with
the Adelaide Turf team comfortably dismissing
Para Districts to claim the 2013/14 SAMCA
Under 21 Cup.
Senior Associations across Adelaide then
competed in the annual knockout rounds of
the SAMCA Shield. Para Districts secured their
final spot by easily defeating the Churches
and Community team, while Adelaide Turf was
too strong for the Adelaide and Suburban
team. Adelaide Turf then went on to win the
SAMCA Shield final, defending its total of 193 by
bowling out the Para Districts team for 90 on an
excellent wicket at Brighton Oval.
Their win in the Senior Shield qualified the
Adelaide Turf team to play in the final of the
SAMCA Senior Cup against the winner of
the Bank SA Senior Country Cup, the Yorke
Peninsula. The final saw the Adelaide Turf
team dominate the day’s play, with the Yorke
Peninsula batsmen falling short of the required
total in their run chase. Excellent facilities were
again on offer at the Woodville District Cricket
Club, with both teams enjoying the hospitality
and after-match presentations.

CLUB FACILITY
GRANTS PROGRAM

GIRLS IN CRICKET:
SUPA 6 SMASH

Sixty SA clubs and
associations benefit from
timely financial support

Seven centres involved in
girls’ only cricket –
1400 participate

The 2013/14 season saw SACA continue
the Club Facility Grant Program, providing a
range of grants to more than 60 cricket clubs
and associations throughout South Australia.
This funding has been made available
following the Adelaide Oval redevelopment,
with a significant increase in applications
demonstrating the positive impact of the SACA
Cricket Partnership Program, and the value
of the new regionally based Country Cricket
Development staff.

In its second year, the Supa 6 Smash girls’
only program again successfully delivered an
introduction to cricket as well as organising a
six-week competition.

Grant funding up to $5,000 was provided to
financially assist clubs and associations with
their infrastructure projects and development
plans. In country regions across South Australia,
more than 15 clubs on the Eyre Peninsula were
prioritised, while in the Mid and Upper North,
Yorke Peninsula, Fleurieu, Mount Gambier
and Riverland regions, over 25 clubs received
funding for a range of projects.
In the Adelaide Hills, 10 clubs successfully
applied for grant funding, with major projects
planned for clubs in Mount Barker, Strathalbyn,
Ashbourne, Meadows, Basket Range and
Birdwood, with new artificial turf surfaces
provided to clubs in Macclesfield, Mount
Pleasant/Springton, Echunga and Woodside.
Metropolitan clubs also received some
urgent funding for large projects, including
Prince Alfred Old Collegians Cricket Club
(CC), Mawson Lakes CC, Payneham CC,
Angle Vale CC, Grange CC and Para Hills CC.
These projects included new turf centre
wickets, new training facilities, upgraded turf
practice facilities and extensions to current
practice facilities.
Clubs and associations affiliated with the
SACA Cricket Partnership Program were
eligible to apply, with some organisations
also seeking funding through the State
Government’s Office for Recreation and Sport.
By working with the stakeholders and local
councils on larger projects, the SACA and
their affiliated organisations are investing
in community facilities to ensure the next
generation of participants can enjoy the
best cricket experience.
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Supa 6 Smash clinics were run across 21
schools around the state with more than 1,400
girls taking part. A total of 123 girls participated
in Supa 6 Smash competitions across seven
centres. The Reynella centre was the largest,
with participants invited to be part of the
on-ground activities at the Commonwealth
Bank Ashes Test match at Adelaide Oval
in December.
SACA plans to expand the number of centres
next season, especially in Port Lincoln and the
eastern metropolitan suburbs. It also wants to
increase the number of participants at already
established centres.

INCLUSIVE CRICKET
PROGRAMS:
INDIGENOUS
Regional community
teachers’ and leaders’
skills boosted
Opportunities to establish and develop
participation-based Indigenous programs
arose during 2013/14. In partnership with
the Office for Recreation and Sport, SACA
continued to work with the Point Pearce
Aboriginal Community by running an in-service
program at the Point Pearce Aboriginal School
to skill teachers and community leaders. The
next stage will see a MILO in2CRICKET centre.
By working with key stakeholders including
Umoona Tjutagku Health Service Aboriginal
Community, Coober Pedy Area School,
Coober Pedy Council and Oz Minerals, SACA
established the foundation to set up two
MILO in2CRICKET centres in the region.
Teachers and community leaders were also
exposed to a skills session to ensure the
continuation of the centres.
SACA also travelled to the Yalata Anangu
School to provide cricket clinics to
approximately 50 children, visited the
Koonibba Aboriginal School on two occasions
and held the inaugural Indigenous Cricket
Academy in Port Lincoln. A four-week
introductory MILO in2CRICKET Skills Program
was introduced at the Gidja Club, an Outside
School Hours Care (OSHC) provider, in which
22 children participated. SACA thanks the
Office for Recreation and Sport and the
various communities who helped run the
cricket programs.

INCLUSIVE CRICKET INCLUSIVE CRICKET
PROGRAMS:
PROGRAMS:
ALL ABILITIES
MOSAIC
Blind and disabled score
entry-level opportunities
People with a disability, including those in
Blind Sports SA, Special Olympics SA,
Sasrapid Inc., Special Schools and Disability
Units, Disability agencies and community
groups have all benefited from SACA’s provision
of entry level cricket opportunities during the
2013/14 season.
BLIND CRICKET NATIONALS
Players from across Australia gathered in
Adelaide between 29 December 2013 to
7 January 2014 for the Blind Cricket Nationals,
marking 60 years since the first Blind Cricket
Nationals were held in Adelaide. The carnival
brought together some of the best blind or
visually impaired national cricketers, including
South Australian captain, Mark Haskett, who
is also part of the national team. Teams from
South Australia, New South Wales, Victoria,
Queensland, and the ACT competed in both
a 40-over and T20 series at Scotch College.
Queensland defeated Victoria in the 40-over
format before Victoria made amends with a win
over Queensland in the T20 final.
SPECIAL OLYMPICS T20 NATIONAL INVITATIONAL
After the success of the inaugural Special
Olympics T20 National Cricket Invitational in
2013, Adelaide hosted the event for a second
year between 6 and 9 February 2014. SACA
worked with Special Olympics SA to provide a
quality cricket experience for cricketers with an
intellectual disability. In 2014, the competition
grew to two divisions, with five states or
territories competing. South Australia won gold
in the first division and silver in the second. West
End Redback, Michael Klinger, was the event
Ambassador. The event will be hosted again in
Adelaide in 2015, with the hope of international
teams competing.
2013 LORD’S TAVERNERS SHIELD
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South Australia was represented for the
20th time in the 21-year history of the Lord’s
Taverners Shield. The Shield is a national
indoor cricket competition for cricketers with
an intellectual disability. In season 2013/14,
the South Australian team featured a number
of experienced players, most notably Wayne
Jeffery (14th championship), Lindsay Drowley
(13th championship) and Peter Kerin (10th
championship). The team finished fourth,
with Lindsay Drowley and Mark Cowan being
selected in the All Australian Team. The South
Australian Lord’s Taverners team appreciates
the support from the South Australian branch
of Lord’s Taverners Australia, along with Sasrapid
Inc. and SACA.

More than 1700 children
in 18 schools discover the
excitement of cricket
This season SACA visited 18 schools with
culturally and linguistically diverse enrolments
as part of the Mosaic program to provide an
introduction to cricket. The Mosaic program
is a SACA strategy and has just completed
its second year. Mosaic programs provide
opportunities for people of all ages and diverse
backgrounds to participate in cricket.
More than 1,700 students engaged with
this experience of cricket. In addition to a
presence in schools, SACA also coordinated
the inaugural cricket Multicultural School Cup.
The carnival day engaged 54 students from
a multicultural background in a mix of
boys and girls.
SACA has continued to create and develop
partnerships with a number of organisations
including Multicultural SA, Multicultural Youth
SA, Intensive English Learning Centres, South
Australian Refugee Association and the
Office for Recreation and Sport. Each of these
partnerships has allowed the SACA to deliver
cricket activities to children and adults who are
new to Australia.
One of the biggest achievements for the
season was the success of the Multicultural
Sports and Community Club. The club entered
eight teams into the summer tournament in
season 2013/14 and two of their teams
played in finals.
MULTICULTURAL CRICKET LEAGUE
The continuation of the Multicultural Cricket
League also was a success. The MCL is a
six-week cricket tournament played at the
Brahma Lodge Indoor Centre and run by SACA
Multicultural Ambassador, Mohammad Arifi.
This season, three back-to-back tournaments
were held.
The appointment of two more multicultural
ambassadors, Amir Latifi and Sriram
Krishnamurthy, has assisted with community
engagement. Along with Mohammad Arifi,
these ambassadors worked throughout the
season to promote cricket in their communities.

MILO in2CRICKET

Thousands participate as schools and
communities embrace cricket

More than 150 centres and 3,000 girls and boys
across South Australia participated in the MILO
in2CRICKET program in season 2013/14.
The focus of MILO in2CRICKET, Australia’s
national grassroots program, is the retention
of SACA’s program centres, volunteers and
participants as well as developing new ways to
integrate MILO in2CRICKET into the community.
SACA successfully completed its annual school
visit program, visiting schools as far west as
Ceduna, north at Roxby Downs, east at Kaniva
and south at Mount Gambier. The school visit
program was carried out in the lead-up to
the MILO in2CRICKET season across six weeks
and consisted of promotional clinics inspired
to promote the fun and interactive ideals of
the program. Altogether, SACA staff saw more
than 35,000 primary school students during the
course of this promotional campaign.
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This season SACA sought innovation in the way
MILO in2CRICKET is delivered by trialling new
methods and models, including an Associationrun ‘Super Centre’, which proved to be
successful in attracting numbers and delivering
a better quality product to a wider community.
This expansion of this concept will be a focus in
season 2014/15.
SACA provided extra support to associations,
clubs and schools in 2013/14 to further
develop MILO in2CRICKET within the community.
Resources were dedicated to increase the
quality of experience not only for the children

but also for the volunteers and parents to
ensure their program is sustainable into the
future. Centres were provided with extra
equipment to assist with the delivery of their
programs; this helped promote participation
by providing increased opportunities for each
child to have fun and develop their skills.
Several free MILO in2CRICKET training
courses were delivered in metropolitan and
regional South Australia, including a course
in metropolitan Adelaide that was conducted
by industry leading Cricket Australia coaches.
These courses were aimed to skill MILO
in2CRICKET volunteers with SACA and Cricket
Australia best practice.
The season also marked the introduction of
two notable features of the MILO in2CRICKET
program. The introduction of the pink MILO
in2CRICKET shirt and hat has been a huge
success among the female participants this
season and will no doubt be again next
season. MILO in2CRICKET also has a strong
presence in social media, especially through
the Cricket in SA Facebook page. The aim
is to provide the community with regular
updates of activities around the state, links to
useful information about SACA programs and
pathways and creating a forum for cricket
discussion in general.
The MILO in2CRICKET program will continue to
be a key focus of SACA’s Game Development
department during season 2014/15.

MILO IN2CRICKET
SKILLS PROGRAM
Primary students the
target in skills and game
sense program
The MILO in2CRICKET Skills Program is a fourweek cricket program aimed at primary schoolaged children. It is delivered during school
time either as part of a physical education
program or class teacher-delivered physical
education lessons.
The program can be delivered by SACA staff at
a cost or alternatively teachers can be taught
to deliver the program themselves, receiving
a program guide with a major focus on motor
skills and skill development, through basic
cricket skills and game sense activities.
This season more than 5000 children
participated in the MILO in2CRICKET Skills
Program within South Australia’s metropolitan
and country regions, a fantastic achievement
by teachers to help ensure the cricket message
continues to spread and grow stronger across
our schools.

SCHOOL
AMBASSADOR
PROGRAM
‘Ambassadors’ encourage
cricket involvement, city
and country
The MILO in2CRICKET School Ambassador
Program aims to identify and recognise a
representative from each Australian school
who is committed to ensuring their students
have every opportunity to get involved in
cricket. The School Ambassador may be a
principal, sports coordinator, classroom teacher,
parent or guardian.
The School Ambassador is asked to be the
contact person for cricket in their school, to
assist in arranging opportunities for their school
to be involved in clinics and competitions
and to distribute information about upcoming
cricket programs. Each School Ambassador
receives a resource pack including free
cricket equipment and access to professional
development opportunities.
This season SACA had 432 ambassadors
in schools across both metropolitan and
country regions. In-service sessions were held
in all regions, culminating in a well-attended
session run at Adelaide Oval in February
where ambassadors were involved in both an
informational and practical session. In 2015,
SACA is targeting all schools across the state
to be represented by a School Ambassador
to allow more opportunities for students to be
involved in sharing the benefits of the game.

MILO T20 BLAST
More than 700 youngsters
now progressing to ‘hard
ball’ cricket
A key program developing youngsters’ skills
at playing higher level cricket this season
attracted good numbers using music and fastpaced games to maintain interest. The MILO
T20 Blast program expanded in 2013/14 with
almost 750 children involved in this exciting
national program.
Targeted at children who have been through
the MILO in2CRICKET program and who are
ready to advance to the next level, MILO T20
Blast involves a combination of skill activities
and games designed to assist young cricketers
progressing to ‘hard ball’ cricket. The 90-minute
weekly sessions had a great atmosphere,
including music playing and with participants
wearing Adelaide Striker blue coloured MILO
T20 Blast shirts and Adelaide Strikers caps
while playing fast-paced games. Music playing
throughout each session added to the exciting
atmosphere. Participants who took part in the
MILO T20 Blast School Cup days (modified
carnival days held during school time) were
invited to register for the eight-week MILO T20
Blast Program.
ADELAIDE STRIKER HOLIDAY CLINICS
The Adelaide Striker Holiday Clinics also
continued in 2013/14 and this season
included the exciting MILO T20 Blast format
in the agenda. Clinics were conducted
over two four-hour sessions focused on skill
development and playing games. There were
six clinics in the metropolitan area and others
in Mt Barker and Nuriootpa.
Participants were thrilled with the attendance
of Adelaide Strikers players who joined in
with activities, signed autographs and
posed for photos.
PRIMARY SCHOOL CRICKET
SACA Game Development staff continued
to work closely with primary schools in the
metropolitan area to coordinate a weekly
primary school competition. Conducted
in terms 1 and 4, the SACA Primary School
competition is a key component of the cricket
participation and development pathway in
South Australia.
The SACA Primary School competition is
delivered in a modified format to ensure
increased opportunities for all. The eight-a-side
team format is also extremely popular with
parents due to the reduced time commitment.
SACA leads the way nationally with primary
school cricket programs by providing the only
regular weekly competition at this age level
in Australia.
SACA appreciates the support provided by
primary school cricket ambassadors and the
many volunteers who assist in ensuring that
matches run smoothly each weekend.

TRAINING AND
EDUCATION

SACA is on track to achieve a goal of 1,500
accredited umpires in South Australia by
June 2015 and its coaching program has
been further developed, with improved
services and coaching courses.
UMPIRING
Largest umpire seminar held in Australia
The 2013/14 season’s official umpiring launch
evening at the Adelaide Zoo was the best
attended, attracting more than 100 umpires
from four associations.
Two months of Level 1 and Level 2 umpire
courses followed, as well as panel meetings
and laws study nights all culminating with
a statewide Umpiring Seminar at Thebarton
Community Centre. It was a huge success,
with the 150 participants making it the largest
umpire seminar in Australia for the season.
Increasing umpiring numbers in both Adelaide
Turf and Para Districts associations was a
particular goal this season. Pleasingly, both of
these associations increased their numbers to
new highs, a trend that will hopefully continue
into the future.
The number of Grade cricket umpires remained
steady, with around 130 officiating throughout
the season. Across the state the number of
accredited umpires increased to 1,295 and
SACA is on track to achieve its goal of 1,500
accredited umpires in South Australia by
June 2015.
Umpire education and accreditation
was also highly successful this season with
270 new Level 1 (Community Umpiring) and
36 Level 2 (Representative Umpiring) umpires
achieving accreditation. A total of 429
umpires participated in structured training
and development programs.
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At a national level, South Australia was the only
state in Australia to send an umpire to every
Cricket Australia National Championship this
season. Special recognition is given to Craig
Thomas (Under 19s), Cory Black (Under 17s),
Adrian Drosd (Imparja Cup), Paul Welbourn
(Under 18 Women) and Sarah Thamm (Under
15 Girls). Sarah continued an impressive
season, becoming the first female SA umpire to
represent her state at nationals as well as the
first umpire from Community Cricket at this level.
Simon Fry was recognised as Cricket
Australia’s Umpire of the Year and the South
Australian Sports Official of the year at the
Sport SA awards. Both Simon and Paul Wilson
represented SA and Australia at both national
and international levels in all formats of
the game and were appointed to matches
overseas representing the ICC and/or
Cricket Australia in tournaments and umpire
exchange programs.
SACA thanks and congratulates them both not
only for their on-field achievements, but also
for their dedication and assistance off-field
to umpire development in South Australia.
The quality of cricket umpires in the state has
continued to grow this season and SACA is
committed to further developing umpiring in
community cricket.

COACHING
Level 1 accreditation to 236 coaches
this season
SACA’s coaching program has been further
developed, with improved services and
coaching courses on offer. This season,
22 Level 1 Community Coach courses were
presented in country areas across the state
with 236 coaches becoming Level 1 accredited.
SACA Level 2 Representative Coach course
was well received in Adelaide with 26 coaches,
including six country coaches and one
interstate coach, participating in the
four-day course.
SACA’s online coaching website was extended
to offer an increased range of footage
demonstrating drills and skills. This vision was
made available to coaches at no cost. The
Past Player program, a new initiative from the
Australian Cricketers Association and Cricket
Australia, enables past players to assist with

cricket coaching, seminars, club visits, country
visits and coaching courses. South Australia’s
past Redbacks and Scorpions players visited
11 of the 12 junior Grade clubs this season, as
well as conducting training sessions for country
representative teams.
About 100 accredited coaches attended
four coaching seminars in Adelaide prior
to Christmas. West End Redbacks coach,
Darren Berry, was joined by West End Premier
League coach, Ben Cameron, and Under 17
State Coach, David Scholz, to present on topics
including leadership, captaincy, fielding and
game sense.
SACA thanks the many people in SA who
coached this season and looks forward to their
continued involvement in the coming years.

COMPETITIONS
BANKSA UNDER
12, UNDER 14 AND
UNDER 16 COUNTRY
CARNIVALS
Hundreds of juniors
reveal summer skills
for talent spotters
Adelaide venues played host to the BankSA
Country Carnivals during November,
December and January. With more than 350
participants across the three junior carnivals,
they provide an important step in the talent
identification pathway.
The BankSA Under 12 Country Cup kicked off
the carnivals on Monday 18 November with
teams playing four T20 matches and two oneday matches. The carnival was tightly contested
with a number of teams vying for a chance of
winning the title leading into the final day of
play. With only 1.85 points separating first and
second, it was Barossa and Light which took the
honours by performance points as it and Mid
North both finished the carnival on five wins.
Eyre Peninsula finished third. Lachie McNeil from
Mid North was named Player of the Carnival,
scoring 165 runs at 82.5.
South Australia’s best Under 16 players from
regional areas took part in four one-day
matches with the team that finished top after
the four rounds being crowned BankSA Under
16 Country Cup premiers. The carnival proved
to be hotly contested, with Upper North, Mid
North, South East and Murray Districts all having
strong carnivals, and with first and second
place being decided by only 0.05 of a point.
The undefeated Upper North side edged out
Murray Districts for the premiership on the final
day’s play. Sean Kuerschner from Upper North
capped off an impressive week with the bat,
being named Player of the Carnival with 259
runs at 86.33.
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In the second week of January, the BankSA
Under 14 Country Cup was played at various
venues around Adelaide. Yorke Peninsula
was the only team to go through the week
undefeated and took home the premiership.
Fleurieu South claimed second place, just
a few points ahead of Eyre Peninsula which
finished third. Murphy Short from Yorke Peninsula
was named the Player of the Carnival for an
outstanding effort with the ball, taking 14
wickets at an impressive average of 2.21.

Following the completion of each carnival two
teams were selected, acknowledging the best
performed players in that competition.
These two teams from each age group then
had the opportunity to play in the statewide
carnivals against the best players in the
metropolitan area.
SACA is extremely grateful for the ongoing
support provided by BankSA in making these
carnivals a memorable experience for our
young country cricketers as well as to all the
volunteers and parents who gave up their time
to provide assistance during these events.
BANKSA JUNIOR STATEWIDE CARNIVALS
This season, the junior statewide carnivals
included the Under 12 and Under 17 age
groups. The Under 12 carnival comprises a
team from each of the 12 junior Grade clubs
plus two country representative teams, while
the Under 17 age group included the 12 junior
Grade clubs, two country representative teams,
the SACA Under 15 state team and also a
team from the South Australian Metropolitan
Cricket Association.
The BankSA Under 12 Statewide Carnival
was held in late December at Park 25 and
various Grade club grounds across Adelaide.
Consisting of four T20 matches and two oneday matches with finals being played on the
last day, players are given the opportunity
to showcase their talents in the quest for
selection in the state SAPSASA team. Strong
performances were seen across the week in
very trying conditions for such young players.
Unfortunately, due to extreme heat conditions,
the final was unable to be played and Country
Red and Kensington were named joint premiers.
In its 67th year, the BankSA Under 17 Shield
continued to provide excitement and an
opportunity for players to represent their club
outside of the normal weekend competitions.
Split into two zones, Sturt and Country Black
finished top of their respective zones. Other
strong performers were Port Adelaide and
Kensington. Weather again played a part in the
carnival as it did in the Under 12 competition,
with the last few rounds being called off due
to continuous extreme heat. Sturt and Country
Black were named joint premiers.
BANKSA SENIOR COUNTRY CARNIVAL
Representative teams from the eight country
regions in South Australia ventured to Adelaide
in early February to take part in the 89th
BankSA Senior Country Carnival. Split into two
zones comprising four teams each, the teams
play three rounds before a cross-over final.
Upper North and Yorke Peninsula finished top of
their zones and met each other in the final at
Woodville Oval.

Yorke Peninsula, aiming for its fourth straight
BankSA Senior Country Carnival title, won
the toss and elected to bat first. Upper North
bowled extremely well, restricting Yorke
Peninsula to 139 from 47.2 overs. Each bowler
had luck with the ball and collected at least
one wicket. Rhys Lacey was the pick of the
bowlers, taking 3/32 from 7.2 overs while
Matthew Goldsworthy top-scored for Yorke
Peninsula with 33.
Upper North would have thought their team
had the win in the bag chasing such a small
total but 5/28 from Ryan Darling and 3/25 by
James Moss turned the game into a nail biter.
Requiring only a few runs to win in the final
over, Upper North was dismissed on the first ball
three runs short of the target. Randall Wyatt topscored for Upper North with 26. The win for Yorke
Peninsula was its fifth premiership, while Ryan
Darling was named Player of the Carnival with
143 runs and 13 wickets.
COUNTRY LIVING HOMES TWENTY20
CHAMPIONS CUP
Now in its fourth year the Country Living Homes
Country Twenty20 Champions Cup continues
to grow stronger, with new teams getting their
first shot at glory and some teams returning for
another year.
The 32-team competition structure was again
implemented with Nairne, Monarto, Millicent
Footballers, Loxton, Charlton, Stansbury, West
Augusta and Freeling making their way through
to the quarter finals which were played at
Langhorne Creek and Port Augusta. In the
semi-finals, Freeling defeated Stansbury and
Millicent Footballers defeated Monarto to
book themselves a spot in the country final on
Adelaide Oval.
In the country final Millicent Footballers won the
toss and elected to bat on the usually batsmenfriendly Adelaide Oval pitch. The Millicent side
struggled against the Freeling bowlers who
kept things tight which in turn bought about
regular wickets. Bronte Grosser top scored for
Millicent with 26, as Millicent were dismissed
for 84. In reply, Freeling cruised to victory three
wickets down reaching the target in the eighth
over. Raed Hannun finished unbeaten on 37
while Ben Parish scored 27.
Country Living Homes continued their support
of the SAMCA city based T20 Champions Cup.
Rose & Crown met Riverside in their semi-final,
while last year’s winner Payneham met Hope
Valley. In the Country Living Homes Metropolitan
T20 Champions Cup final at Adelaide Oval
Hope Valley defeated Rose & Crown.

From top: Adelaide Strikers wicketkeeper Tim Ludeman with the winner of the
BankSA Under 12 Country Cup ‘Best Fielder’ award, Rachel Church; Freeling took
out the Country Living Homes Country Twenty20 Champions Cup; two Hope
Valley cricketers celebrate a wicket in the Country Living Homes Statewide T20
Championship Cup final.

The Country Living Homes Statewide T20
Championship Cup final pitted country against
city, with Freeling getting the better of Hope
Valley in a close finish. Batting first, Freeling was
bowled out for 112 from 19 overs, and Lachlan
Heinrich top-scored with 30. In reply, Hope Valley
looked to be cruising to victory until some late
wickets slowed their run rate. With the game
still up for grabs going into the final over, Hope
Valley fell three runs short as it finished its 20
overs at 7/110. The win squared the ledger
with two wins apiece to the country and
metropolitan sides.

BANKSA UNDER
14 JUNIOR
PREMIER LEAGUE
In a revised competition format, the state’s
finest Under 14 talent was showcased in the
new BankSA Under 14 Junior Premier League,
held for the first time on Monday 20 January
in Adelaide.
The League is a new competition replacing
the BankSA Under 14 Statewide competition,
comprising six teams, four from Grade clubs
plus two country teams. The 12 junior Grade
clubs were aligned to four teams: Eastern
Edge, Northern Mavericks, Southern Force, and
Western Grit, in the same format as the West
End Premier League. The two country teams,
County Red and Country Black, were
selected based on the performances by
players at the BankSA Under 14 Country
Carnival in early January.
This exciting competition saw each team
participate in two T20 matches and three
One-Day matches over the course of the
competition. All matches were played at
Park 25, which resulted in a great atmosphere
over the four days of the carnival. Eastern Edge
took out the inaugural title ahead of Southern
Force and the Country Red team.

YOUNG
INDIGENOUS
PLAYERS STAR
Indigenous cricket continues to grow in
South Australia with SACA reaching out to
communities on the Eyre and Yorke Peninsulas
as well as continuing to work with the
Under 20 Development and Southern
Boomerangs squads.
This season, SACA continued to provide
young Indigenous cricketers the opportunity
to develop their skills through the Under 20
Indigenous Development squad which works
in line with the state Indigenous team, the
Southern Boomerangs. This season, invitations
to join the development squad were sent to
every cricket club across the state to further
identify and encourage talented Indigenous
players. In their annual match the Under 20s
defeated St Peter’s College, the first time
since 2007.
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SACA strives to develop its young Indigenous
cricketers, an effort which is proving successful
with a number of players taking part in state
underage squads. Ayden McGregor-Baptista,
Tyrell Sinclair and Charlie Holmes were
members of the SACA Under 17 squad and
Luke Lavender was a member of the Under 19
team. Lavender also trained with the Emerging
Redbacks squad and represented the Western
Grit in the inaugural West End Premier League.
He was named the State Indigenous Player of
the Year at the Neil Dansie Medal Night for his
efforts throughout the season.

LORD’S TAVERNERS STATEWIDE
INDIGENOUS CARNIVAL
The Lord’s Taverners Statewide Indigenous
Carnival was held at Park 25 in late November
2013. With ideal playing conditions on both
days, teams from around the state enjoyed two
days of good competitive cricket. Teams played
three rounds of T20 cricket with the final being
played between the top two placed sides.
Port Augusta was the dominant side throughout
the carnival and took on Riverland in the
final. Port Augusta scored 7/167 with Travis
McNamee top scoring with 69. In reply
Riverland were unable to get the runs on the
board, scoring 8/112 from their 20 overs. Russell
Coulthard, Jeremy Johncock and Gilly Taylor
were joint winners of the Vince Copley Medal.
IMPARJA CUP
The National Indigenous Championship, the
Imparja Cup, continues to get bigger and
better with more than 100 matches and 500
participants taking part across six divisions.
The Southern Boomerangs again focused on
the development of their young Indigenous
players, fielding another young team with
majority of the players under the age of 21
travelling with the squad to Alice Springs.
The team had high hopes leading into the
championships with the core group from last
year returning. The Boomerangs were only able
to manage one win from their seven matches,
but this does not reflect the effort the players
put in and the closeness of the scores in many
of the matches.
Marcus McGregor-Cassidy captained the side
for the first time this year and led well both on
and off the field. McGregor-Cassidy finished
eighth overall on the leading runs ladder
with 116 runs at 23.3 and also collected five
wickets. Luke Lavender, who missed last year’s
championship due to injury, played a vital role
with the ball finishing with eight wickets and
seventh overall on the leading wicket takers’
list. Lavender was rewarded for his efforts
with selection in the Black Caps Team of the
Championship.
The SACA would like to thank the Lord’s
Taverners and the members of the South
Australian Aboriginal Cricket Advisory
Committee for their continued support of
Indigenous cricket in South Australia.

30TH
COMMONWEALTH
BANK AUSTRALIAN
COUNTRY CRICKET
CHAMPIONSHIPS
SA Outbacks enjoy ‘best’
season, but first place
eludes them
South Australia’s senior country team, the SA
Outbacks, enjoyed their best season to date. In
the lead-up to the 30th Commonwealth Bank
Australian Country Cricket Championships, the
SA Outbacks took part in the inaugural West
End Premier League Twenty20 Cup. While the
team did not record a win, it gave the players
valuable match time together before the
National Championships.
Team members travelled to Canberra in early
January to compete at the National Country
Cricket Championships where they played
a variety of two-day, 50-over and T20 fixtures.
The Outbacks had a perfect start to their
campaign, recording an outright win over East
Asia Pacific, and setting up the rest of their
championship. The team then suffered a loss to
Victoria and another narrow loss to New South
Wales before rallying against Queensland to
claim a comprehensive five-wicket victory to
keep them in the race for the title.
Leading into the final round of matches, the
team came up against an undefeated Western
Australian team. The Outbacks needed a win
and another result to finish in the top two.
However, despite accounting for WA, their slow
run rate from a previous match meant they
finished second by 0.88 of a point. Second
place is the best result by the Outbacks at a
National Country Championship and all players
and coaches should be commended for the
commitment to this successful campaign.
Adam Somerfield topped off another fantastic
tournament by being named Player of the
Championship having scored 208 runs at
69.33 and claiming 12 wickets at 18.08, while
Boh Wall was awarded the Ian Healy WicketKeeping Award. Both Somerfield and Wall
won their respective awards for the second
National Country Championship in-a-row.
Outbacks captain Andrew Frick also enjoyed
a fruitful Championship taking out the Bill
O’Reilly Bowling Award with 18 wickets at
11.06. Somerfield, Frick and young quick Nick
Clayfield were named in the Australian Country
XI Team of the Championship.
SACA appreciates of the efforts of the
Outbacks’ support staff, coach Paul Pasculli,
team manager Ian Graham and chairman of
selectors Brett Lydeamore.

GRADE CRICKET
GRADE CRICKET REVIEW
Commissioned by the SACA Board in 2013,
an independent review of Grade cricket
conducted by respected Grade cricket
figures Rob Zadow, Bill Baker and
Geoff Daly has been completed.
The report was presented to the SACA Board
and Grade club representatives in May 2014
and contained eight recommendations based
on 12 months of research and interviews with
all SACA Grade cricket clubs and other key
stakeholders.
The key recommendations covered
governance, the number and location of Grade
clubs, retention of players, grounds and pitches,
junior cricket, coaching, umpiring and club
matters.
A working party including members of the
SACA Board, SACA management and Grade
cricket representatives has been formed. This
working party will be headed by SACA Board
Member Rod Phillips and will begin the process
by meeting with the Grade cricket community
to consider the recommendations.
GRADE CRICKET
The SACA Grade cricket competition continues
to develop junior and senior players in
preparation for the next step in their cricketing
careers across all three formats of the game.
The West End senior competition comprised
four grades (A to D), as well as offering the
One Day Cup and Twenty20 Cup competitions.
Senior Women’s grades (A and B) played both
One Day and T20 formats, while the introduction
of the Junior Female Development League
received positive feedback from players and
parents. The junior boys showed their skills
in the Powerade Under 14 and Under 16 Red
and White competitions, with the Ray Sutton
Shield, BankSA Statewide Under 12 and BankSA
Under 17 Shield continuing to assist with talent
identification.
Port Adelaide ended a 46-year premiership
drought to finish champions of the West End
A Grade competition. Led by captain Nick
Benton, the Magpies stopped Tea Tree Gully
from claiming all three premierships. Benton
was also awarded the David Hookes Medal for
his impressive bowling figures of 6/61.
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Tea Tree Gully continued their Grade cricket
dominance, claiming their third consecutive
West End One Day Cup and West End Twenty20
Cup titles with wins over Kensington and
Northern Districts respectively.
Kensington won their first Women’s A Grade
One Day premiership defeating the Northern
Bullets, with Kensington’s Beth Morgan awarded
player of the match for her knock of 155 off

138 balls. West Torrens also claimed their first
Women’s A Grade T20 premiership defeating
Kensington on Adelaide Oval.
Jake Brown became the first Kensington player
in 14 years to be awarded the Bradman Medal,
finishing three votes clear of Woodville’s Carl
Tietjens. Northern Bullets’ Tegan McPharlin was
rewarded for a great year with the bat, named
the 2013/14 Karen Rolton Medallist.
SACA wishes to acknowledge Lion and CocaCola for the wonderful support both companies
provide the South Australian Grade Cricket
competition.
GRADE CRICKET IN COUNTRY REGIONS
Grade cricket visited regional areas in South
Australia again this season with the West End
Twenty20 Cup being played at Moonta and
Encounter Bay.
Playing in the country provides Grade clubs
the opportunity to promote Grade cricket to
the rural community and further strengthen the
relationship between the Grade competition
and country cricket. The day also helps to
promote the host clubs and the essential role
they play in developing junior cricketers within
regional centres, the tireless efforts of both
metropolitan and country cricket volunteers
and further recognises the importance
of country cricket in the South Australian
cricketing pathway.
FEBLUARY
The SACA continued its partnership with
beyondblue and its FeBLUary campaign.
FeBLUary, now in its fifth year, was originally
established in 2008 by the Southern District
Cricket Club. A FeBLUary round is played each
season with the aim of raising awareness about
depression, anxiety and related mental health
disorders.
As with previous seasons, the Grade cricket
competition celebrates this initiative with a
special FeBLUary round. Each team across all
grades appoints a FeBLUary ambassador who
wears a special blue FeBLUary cap and, at the
end of the match, umpires award a FeBLUary
medal to the Player of the Match.
This season’s FeBLUary campaign increased
to include the West End One Day Cup Final,
Women’s A Grade Twenty20 Final and the
Country Living Homes Twenty20 Championship
Cup final. Special FeBLUary stumps were used
during all of these matches with the umpires
wearing special blue coloured FeBLUary caps.

Top (from left): Tegan McPharlin from Northern Bullets was awarded the Karen Rolton
Medal; Port Adelaide celebrate their first West End A Grade final victory in 46 years.
Middle: The Tea Tree Gully Bulls had a dominant season, taking out the West End One
Day and Twenty20 Cup.
Bottom: The Kensington Browns celebrated their first Women’s A Grade premiership;
Kensington captain Jake Brown was the 2013/14 Bradman Medallist.

COMMUNICATIONS
Grade cricket continued its strong partnership
with The Advertiser and Messenger Newspapers
and is grateful for the continuing coverage of
the competition.
The Cricket in SA Facebook page also was
established and used in conjunction with
SACA’s Twitter account, both of which provided
exposure of the Grade cricket competition and
all award winners at season’s end.
BRADMAN MEDAL
Grade cricket stalwart and Kensington captain,
Jake Brown, was named the 2013/14 Bradman
Medallist in front of more than 300 people at
a ceremony in the new Riverbank Stand at
Adelaide Oval.
The medal was the first for a Kensington player
in 14 years and recognised yet another stellar
season from Brown, who has been a consistent
performer for a number of years.
In 11 matches, Brown scored 323 runs at an
average of 29.36, recording a high score of 74
against Prospect in round 4.
It was Brown’s form with the ball, however, that
was most impressive. He finished the season
with 36 wickets, including three five-wicket
hauls, with best figures of 6/45 against Southern
District in round 2.
The medal could have been won by only one
other player heading into the final round.
Woodville fast-bowler Carl Tietjens finished three
votes behind Brown after a blistering season
with the ball in which he claimed 44 wickets
in 12 matches. Close behind Tietjens was the
big-hitting Trent Lawford on 19 votes followed by
West End Redback, Alex Ross, and Cullen Bailey
and Matthew Weaver on 17 votes.
KAREN ROLTON MEDAL
The Karen Rolton Medal, awarded to the most
outstanding women’s cricketer, was won by the
Northern Bullets’ Tegan McPharlin.
Considered a senior state and grade cricketer,
McPharlin led the competition run tally, finishing
the season with 470 runs at 57.85.
McPharlin made four half-centuries, including
99 in the first game of the season against West
Torrens, to go with her season-high 141 from 126
balls against Port Adelaide. Also handy with the
gloves, McPharlin took 10 catches behind the
stumps and completed two stumpings.
McPharlin (28 votes) was a clear winner,
finishing six votes ahead of last year’s winner
Lauren Ebsary (West Torrens). Teenager Tahlia
McGrath (Southern District) finished in third
place on 18 votes.
BENTON HELPS MAGPIES END
PREMIERSHIP DROUGHT
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The Port Adelaide Magpies ended a 46-year
premiership drought by defeating the Tea
Tree Gully Bulls in the West End A Grade final
at Gliderol Stadium. Chasing 167 for victory,
the Magpies reached the required total eight
wickets down in a thrilling finish.
Port Adelaide captain Nick Benton dominated
with the ball, his six wickets helping restrict the
Bulls to 166 and saw him awarded the David

Hookes’ Medal for the Player of the Match. Tim
Evans (45) made a solid start to the innings for
Tea Tree Gully; however, the Bulls lost wickets
too regularly as they found themselves in
trouble at 4/85. Simon Stolcman (21) dug in
to stem the flow of wickets but it wasn’t long
before Benton struck again, before another
quick wicket to Brenton McDonald left the
Bulls reeling at 7/108. Nick Winter (33) played
a courageous innings, putting some valuable
runs on the board, but the Magpies’ bowlers
were too strong. Benton finished with 6/61 and
McDonald with 3/46.
In reply, Adam Dilley (19), Matthew Weeks (21)
and Andrew McDonald (19) all managed starts
for Port Adelaide; however, at 5/97 and 70 runs
still required, the game was in the balance.
A 34-run partnership from Tim Ludeman (21)
and Brenton McDonald (29) put the Magpies in
the box seat. The Bulls managed to take three
more wickets to give themselves an outside
chance of snatching victory. Benton stood up
to the Bulls’ attack, however, and he and Steven
Gilmour held on to see their side over the line
for victory.
BULLS MAKE IT THREE IN A ROW
The Tea Tree Gully Bulls once again confirmed
they are the ‘kings of limited-overs cricket’ by
winning their third consecutive West End One
Day Cup Final against the Kensington Browns
at Adelaide Oval. The Bulls were far too good all
day, posting a total of 229 before dismissing the
Browns for just 146 to continue their dominance
of the 50 over format.
Tea Tree Gully Captain Matthew Weaver won
the toss and elected to bat first. Openers
Weaver (18) and Tim Evans (33) made decent
starts but were both dismissed by the in-form
Kensington captain Jake Brown. This brought
West End Redback Travis Head (62) and Tim
Davey (57) to the crease. The pair combined to
put on a 78-run partnership, putting their side
in a strong position before Head was dismissed
with the score at 3/155. Matthew Cuconits (30)
put some valuable runs on the board late in the
innings to help the Bulls to a score of 229.
Jake Brown battled hard for his side, taking
five wickets.
In reply, Kensington made a horrible start to
their run chase, losing West End Redback
Michael Klinger first ball, judged lbw off the
bowling of Nick Winter. James Smith was then
run out thanks to some brilliant fielding from
Tim Evans and, when Jake Brown was dismissed
shortly after, Kensington looked to be in all
sorts of trouble. Alex Ross and Greg Clarence
managed to stem the flow of wickets but once
Ross was dismissed, the game looked all but
over. Winter was the pick of the bowlers for the
Bulls taking 3/33 with great support from Adam
Somerfield (2/18) and Tim Cronin (2/32).
Tea Tree Gully wicket-keeper Davey won the
Rob Zadow Medal, awarded to the Player of the
Match, for his 57 runs and brilliant display of
glove work behind the stumps.

Above: West Torrens celebrate victory in the Women’s A Grade Twenty20.

UNSTOPPABLE BULLS CLAIM WEST END T20 TITLE
The Tea Tree Gully Bulls continued their Grade
cricket dominance by taking out the West End
Twenty20 Cup for the third year in a row, just
three weeks after claiming the 50-over crown.
Travelling to Bulkana Oval to face the Bulls, the
Northern Districts Jets were sent into the field by
Bulls captain Matthew Weaver. A good start by
openers Weaver (13) and Tim Evans (27) saw
the score reach 2/55 before Tim Davey (59)
and Adam Somerfield (26) combined for a 68
run partnership. Jets bowlers Alex Frick (1/13)
and Steven Marks (1/14) were economical with
the ball, and, combined with three run outs,
restricted the Bulls to 5/141.
The Jets were in strife early in their run chase,
losing Kirk Pascoe for just five before Cameron
Francis fell for 12, leaving the visitors 2/17. With
both openers back in the pavilion it was Mark
Hanson who steadied the ship, his measured
29 from 47 balls dragging his side back into
the contest. However, Jace O’Hara (1/29) and
Evans (2/13) were having none of it. The pair
combined to remove the middle order. Late
hitting to Trent Pascoe (33) wasn’t enough, the
Jets posting 9/124 from their allotted overs and
handing the Bulls the title.
MORGAN LEADS BROWNS TO
PREMIERSHIP GLORY
An unbelievable innings from Beth Morgan
helped the Kensington Browns claim their first
Women’s A Grade premiership after defeating
the Northern Bullets at Park 25. Morgan found
herself at the crease with the score at 1/17
after the Browns were sent in to bat first.
Morgan went on to score an incredible 155
runs from just 138 balls, including a 121-run
partnership with Sarah Lowe (26). The highest
individual score from any player in the Women’s
A Grade this season helped Kensington reach
7/257 from their 50 overs. Hannah Perry rallied
with the ball for the Bullets, claiming 3/54.

In reply, Karen Rolton Medallist, Tegan McPharlin
(53), and Brittany Perry (31) got the Bullets off
to the best possible start, combining for an
81-run partnership. Morgan could not be kept
out of the action, running out the dangerous
McPharlin and combined with two wickets
from Shae Daly (2/28), put the Browns on
top. With the required run rate increasing, the
Bullets needed to play some big shots to have
any chance of claiming a win. Browns bowler
Katelyn Pope was able to capitalise, claiming
four late wickets to help dismiss the Northern
Bullets for 179, securing victory and a maiden
Women’s A Grade Premiership for Kensington.
Morgan was awarded the medal for the best
player in the final for her match winning innings.
EAGLES CLAIM WOMEN’S T20 TITLE
The West Torrens Eagles claimed their first
Women’s A Grade Twenty20 title with a thrilling
victory over the Kensington Browns at Adelaide
Oval. Eagles captain Lauren Ebsary won the
toss and sent her side in to bat. The Eagles
made a great start to the innings thanks to
Kristy Williams (30). Angela Moritz (13) was
run out thanks to some great fielding, bringing
Ebsary to the crease. Ebsary smashed a matchwinning 54 runs from 38 balls, an innings which
including three fours and three sixes. Her side
posted 6/126 from 20 overs.
In reply, Kensington lost early wickets causing
the runs to dry up and the required run rate
to increase. The challenge became even
harder when the Browns lost the wicket of key
batter Beth Morgan. Each of the lower order
batters fought hard to put runs on the board
but the loss of wickets combined with some
poor running between the wickets made the
challenge all too hard as the Browns fell 15 runs
short of victory.

WEST END A GRADE
GRAND FINAL
Gliderol Stadium, 29 March and 30 March 2014

TEA TREE GULLY vs PORT ADELAIDE
DAVID HOOKES MEDALLIST:
NJ BENTON (PORT ADELAIDE)
UMPIRES: CRAIG THOMAS
AND LUKE UTHENWOLDT

TEA TREE GULLY
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

TJ Evans

c JP Rosenthal

b NJ Benton

45

97

M Cuconits

c T Ludeman

b NJ Benton

10

21

TM Head

c T Ludeman

b B McDonald

6

14

lbw S Gilmour

0

6

+TJ Davey
TOSS: TEA TREE GULLY

RESULT: PORT ADELAIDE WON
BY 2 WICKETS

*MK Weaver

c T Ludeman

b NJ Benton

12

42

SA Stolcman

c T Ludeman

b NJ Benton

21

99

b B McDonald

9

18

AJ Somerfield
BD Evans

c JS Hoffman

b NJ Benton

3

5

N Winter

c AC Umpherston

b B McDonald

33

100

T Cronin

c T Ludeman

b NJ Benton

0

5

not out

0

17

JR O’Hara

12nb, 8b, 7lb
SUNDRIES
10 wickets for
166 (69.5 Overs)
TOTAL
55, 62, 63, 85, 96, 105, 108, 149, 157, 166
F/W
BOWLING NJ Benton 25-6-61-6; J Thomas 8-2-28-0; B McDonald 22.5-7-46-3;
S Gilmour 8-2-11-1; JP Rosenthal 2-2-0-0; A McDonald 4-2-5-0

PORT ADELAIDE
1ST INNINGS
AG Dilley

b BD Evans

10

7

AC Umpherston

c BD Evans

b MK Weaver

16

52

b AJ Somerfield

21

52

lbw MK Weaver

19

18

b TJ Evans

21

66

b MK Weaver

29

77

b N Winter

7

22

*NJ Benton

not out

7

35

S Gilmour

not out

9

18

+T Ludeman

c TJ Davey

B McDonald
JP Rosenthal

46

70

c MK Weaver

A McDonald
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19

JS Hoffman
MC Weeks
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RUNS
b MK Weaver

c BD Evans

J Thomas
Sundries

dnb
3nb, 1w, 1b, 7lb

8 wickets for
170 (69.3 Overs)
TOTAL
17,
47,
61,
81,
97,
131,
140,
154
F/W
BOWLING N Winter 15-3-29-1; BD Evans 4-0-20-1; MK Weaver 19.3-7-49-4; AJ Somerfield 15-7-27-1;
JR O’Hara 3-0-16-0; T Cronin 2-1-1-0; TJ Evans 11-5-20-1

Above: Port Adelaide captain Nick Benton with assistant coach Luke Williams.

WEST END ONE DAY
CUP GRAND FINAL
Adelaide Oval, 9 February 2014

TEA TREE GULLY vs KENSINGTON
ROB ZADOW MEDALLIST:
TJ DAVEY (TEA TREE GULLY)

TEA TREE GULLY
1ST INNINGS
*MK Weaver

UMPIRES: MICHIAL FARROW
AND BRUCE STRIBLEY

c PJ Connelly

TJ Evans
TM Head

c AI Ross

+TJ Davey
TOSS: TEA TREE GULLY

I Sturmer
M Cuconits

RESULT: TEA TREE GULLY WON
BY 84 RUNS

c PJ Connelly

AJ Somerfield

RUNS

BALLS

b JM Brown

18

35

b JM Brown

33

42

b EK Opie

62

76

lbw AW O’Brien

57

73

b EK Opie

3

7

b JM Brown

30

35

b AW O’Brien

1

2

6

10

SA Stolcman

run out

N Winter

c AI Ross

b JM Brown

2

6

T Cronin

c EJ Young

b JM Brown

0

1

not out

0

1

SS Nottle

1nb, 9w, 7lb
SUNDRIES
10 wickets
229 (50 Overs)
TOTAL
41, 77, 155, 160, 205, 207, 220, 227, 227, 229
F/W
BOWLING D Worrall 10-2-27-0; EK Opie 10-0-49-2; JM Brown 10-0-47-5; GW Clarence 3-0-23-0;
AW O’Brien 10-0-39-2; SR McNeil 2-0-18-0; J Smith 5-0-19-0

KENSINGTON
1ST INNINGS
J Smith

run out (TJ Evans)

M Klinger

23

0

1

b TJ Evans

33

60

*JM Brown

c TJ Davey

b AJ Somerfield

1

2

GW Clarence

c TJ Evans

b T Cronin

40

63

b AJ Somerfield

25

38

lbw T Cronin

6

12

4

14

not out

11

18

PJ Connelly

48

13
lbw N Winter

c SA Stolcman

SR McNeil
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AI Ross

AW O’Brien
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RUNS

run out (TM Head)

D Worrall
EK Opie

c M Cuconits

b N Winter

5

8

+EJ Young

c TJ Davey

b N Winter

4

7

1nb, 1w, 2lb
SUNDRIES
10 wickets
146 (40.5 Overs)
TOTAL
1, 18, 21, 67, 113, 119, 123, 131, 138, 146
F/W
BOWLING N Winter 7.5-0-33-3; SS Nottle 7-0-21-0; AJ Somerfield 7-1-18-2; MK Weaver 2-0-17-0;
TJ Evans 7-0-23-1; T Cronin 10-0-32-2

WEST END TWENTY20
CUP GRAND FINAL
Bulkana Oval, 2 March 2014

TEA TREE GULLY vs NORTHERN DISTRICTS
UMPIRES: STUART RUDD AND
JOHN BIDDISS

TOSS: TEA TREE GULLY

RESULT: TEA TREE GULLY WON
BY 18 RUNS

TEA TREE GULLY
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

*MK Weaver

c C Duval

b AL Frick

13

12

TJ Evans

c I Borgas

b SA Marks

27

31

+TJ Davey

run out (T Goers)

59

49

AJ Somerfield

run out (I Borgas)

26

28

AJ Hose

run out (J Bailey)

7

6

0

0

M Cuconits

not out

BD Evans

dnb

N Winter

dnb

JR O’Hara

dnb

T Cronin

dnb

SS Nottle

dnb

4w, 5lb
SUNDRIES
5 wickets for
141 (20 Overs)
TOTAL
32, 55, 123, 141, 149
F/W:
BOWLING C Francis 3-0-29-0; TM Pascoe 3-0-26-0; AL Frick 3-0-13-1; SA Marks 4-0-14-1;
CD Williams 3-0-24-0; T Goers 1-0-12-0; C Duval 3-0-18-0

NORTHERN DISTRICTS
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS
N/A

C Francis

c JR O’Hara

b SS Nottle

12

KT Pascoe

c AJ Hose

b SS Nottle

2

+J Bailey

b AJ Somerfield

11

MA Hanson

b JR O’Hara

29

*I Borgas

b BD Evans

9

SA Marks

b TJ Evans

11

C Duval

c MK Weaver

b TJ Evans

0

TM Pascoe

c TJ Evans

b N Winter

33

CD Williams

run out (MK Weaver)

3

T Goers

not out

AL Frick

dnb

8

2nb, 3w, 1lb
SUNDRIES
9 wickets for
124 (20 Overs)
TOTAL
5, 17, 32, 48, 75, 75, 78, 87, 124
F/W
BOWLING N Winter 3-0-27-1; SS Nottle 4-0-12-2; AJ Somerfield 3-0-14-1; BD Evans 2-0-15-1;
JR O’Hara 2.5-0-29-1; T Cronin 2-0-12-0; TJ Evans 3-0-13-2; MK Weaver 0.1-0-1-0

WOMEN’S A GRADE
GRAND FINAL
Park 25 No.1, 29 March 2014

KENSINGTON vs
TEA TREE GULLY/NORTHERN DISTRICTS
PLAYER OF THE MATCH:
BL MORGAN (KENSINGTON)
UMPIRES: TONY TRIST AND
ALLAN COULTHARD
TOSS: TEA TREE GULLY/
NORTHERN DISTRICTS
RESULT: KENSINGTON WON
BY 79 RUNS

KENSINGTON
1ST INNINGS

RUNS

BALLS

E Sheridan

c TJ McPharlin

b R Pollard

22

82

BE Patterson

c TJ McPharlin

b AR Knight

14

13

lbw H Perry

155

139

b N Iles

26

49

b H Perry

15

13

0

1

b H Perry

0

1

S Jameson

not out

1

2

+J Doecke

not out

4

1

AL Norris

dnb

SM Daly

dnb

BL Morgan
SJ Lowe

c NA Fielke

C Fiebig
*J Hill

run out (N Iles)

K Pope

c NA Fielke

9w, 4b, 7lb
SUNDRIES
7 wickets for
257 (50 Overs)
TOTAL
17, 84, 205, 242, 245, 251, 253
F/W
BOWLING AR Knight 9-2-42-1; SC Morrison 8-0-35-0; N Iles 10-1-45-1; K Stockley 10-0-58-0;
H Perry 10-1-54-3; R Pollard 3-0-12-1

TEA TREE GULLY/NORTHERN DISTRICTS
1ST INNINGS
+TJ McPharlin

run out (BL Morgan)

BA Perry

c J Doecke

C Scheer

run out (A Plumridge)

NA Fielke

c J Doecke

H Perry
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50

RUNS

BALLS

53

78

31

70

18

41

b SM Daly

21

21

lbw SM Daly

10

15

b C Fiebig

R Pollard

c J Doecke

b K Pope

14

11

N Iles

c BL Morgan

b K Pope

11

10

AR Knight

run out (BL Morgan)

2

6

SC Morrison

lbw K Pope

1

2

NL Mentha

not out

0

1

K Stockley

lbw K Pope

0

1

14w, 1b, 3lb
SUNDRIES
10 wickets for
179 (44 Overs)
TOTAL
81,
107,
117,
140,
148,
172,
176,
178,
179,
179
F/W:
BOWLING S Jameson 8-2-33-0; J Hill 9-1-36-0; C Fiebig 10-2-25-1; SJ Lowe 4-0-23-0;
K Pope 7-0-30-4; SM Daly 6-0-28-2

WOMEN’S A GRADE
TWENTY20 GRAND FINAL
Adelaide Oval, 9 February 2014

WEST TORRENS vs KENSINGTON
UMPIRES: JEFF KING AND
PHILLIP RITCHIE

TOSS: WEST TORRENS

RESULT: WEST TORRENS WON
BY 15 RUNS

WEST TORRENS
1ST INNINGS
A Moritz

run out (K Pope)

K Williams

c BL Morgan

*LK Ebsary

c J Hill

B Harris
+B Cheetham

c BE Patterson

LJ Williams

run out (J Doecke)

RUNS

BALLS

13

20

b C Fiebig

30

22

b SJ Lowe

54

38

b K Pope

4

10

b SM Daly

5

11

3

8

C McCarthy

not out

6

6

A Eyles

not out

2

5

J Winson

dnb

T Gordon

dnb

SUNDRIES
TOTAL

7w, 1b, 1lb
6 wickets for

126 (20 Overs)

31, 54, 67, 110, 112, 118

F/W
BOWLING S Jameson 3-0-17-0; J Hill 3-0-19-0; C Fiebig 4-0-11-1; K Pope 4-0-39-1;
SJ Lowe 3-0-25-1; SM Daly 3-0-13-1

KENSINGTON
1ST INNINGS
E Sheridan

b J Winson

RUNS

BALLS

10

12

BE Patterson

run out (LJ Williams)

11

13

BL Morgan

run out (K Williams)

8

7

SJ Lowe

c LK Ebsary

b J Winson

25

39

C Fiebig

c LK Ebsary

b J Winson

18

22

not out

9

10

7

7

K Pope
J Hill

run out (A Moritz)

S Jameson

b TJ Gordon

2

5

+J Doecke

not out

7

6

SM Daly

dnb

1nb, 13w, 1b
SUNDRIES
7 wickets for
112 (20 overs)
TOTAL
24, 24, 39, 80, 84, 100, 103
F/W
BOWLING A Eyles 4-0-20-0; C McCarthy 4-0-23-0; J Winson 4-0-25-3; LJ Williams 4-0-24-0;
TJ Gordon 3-0-11-1; LK Ebsary 1-0-8-0

SENIOR GRADE
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
CLUB CHAMPIONSHIP
POS

CLUB

TOTAL POINTS

1

Tea Tree Gully

562.50

2

East Torrens

525.00

3

Kensington

487.50

4

Glenelg

480.00

5

Woodville

437.50

6

Adelaide University

410.00

7

Northern Districts

390.00

8

West Torrens

352.50

9

Sturt

325.00

10

Adelaide

310.00

11

Port Adelaide

285.00

12

Prospect

235.00

13

Southern District

180.00

WEST END PREMIERSHIP TABLE – A GRADE
POS

CLUB

MATCHES
PLAYED

OR WIN
1ST INN
WIN

1ST INN
WIN

OR LOSS
1ST INN
LOSS

1ST INN
LOSS

OR WIN
1ST INN
LOSS

OR LOSS
1ST INN
WIN

MATCH
ABANDONED
OR DRAWN

TOTAL
POINTS

%

1

Kensington

12

0

8

0

3

0

0

1

127.5

1.1603

2

Woodville

12

2

3

1

4

0

1

1

117.5

1.3051

3

Tea Tree Gully

12

2

4

0

4

0

0

2

117.5

1.2478

4

Port Adelaide

12

2

4

1

4

0

0

1

117.5

1.0593

5

Sturt

12

0

6

1

3

0

0

2

112.5

1.2215

6

East Torrens

12

1

5

1

4

0

0

1

107.5

1.0863

7

Adelaide University

12

0

6

2

3

0

0

1

97.5

0.7868

8

Southern District

12

0

6

1

4

0

0

1

97.5

0.7747

9

Northern Districts

12

1

4

0

6

0

0

1

92.5

1.0893

10

Glenelg

12

0

5

1

4

1

0

1

92.5

1.0398

11

Adelaide

12

1

4

1

6

0

0

0

70.0

0.9111

12

West Torrens

12

2

1

0

9

0

0

0

65.0

0.8887

13

Prospect

12

0

4

3

5

0

0

0

60.0

0.7372
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WEST END ONE DAY CUP
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Kensington

3

45.0

%
1.4370

2

East Torrens

3

45.0

1.0488

3

Southern District

3

37.5

0.5552

4

Glenelg

3

30.0

0.5890

5

Woodville

3

30.0

-0.2163

6

Tea Tree Gully

3

30.0

-0.3800

7

Sturt

3

22.5

0.6133

8

Port Adelaide

3

15.0

-0.0427

9

Prospect

3

15.0

-0.3059

10

Adelaide

3

15.0

-0.3705

11

Adelaide University

3

15.0

-0.4659

12

West Torrens

3

15.0

-0.4779

13

Northern Districts

3

0.0

-0.6400

14

SACA Under 19

3

0.0

-0.9433

WEST END TWENTY20 CUP – ZONE 1
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Northern Districts

4

45.0

%
1.7458

2

East Torrens

4

30.0

0.6764

3

Adelaide University

4

30.0

0.6645

4

Woodville

4

30.0

-0.2662

5

Prospect

4

30.0

-1.0151

6

Kensington

4

15.0

-2.0850

WEST END TWENTY20 CUP – ZONE 2
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

%

1

Tea Tree Gully

4

52.5

0.6123

2

West Torrens

4

37.5

1.4939

3

Port Adelaide

4

30.0

0.8897

4

Sturt

4

30.0

0.0554

5

Adelaide

4

30.0

-0.5583

6

SACA Under 19

4

30.0

-1.2309

7

Glenelg

4

15.0

-0.3219

8

Southern District

4

15.0

-0.5635

SENIOR GRADE
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
WEST END PREMIERSHIP TABLE – B GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Woodville

12

155.0

%
1.3572

2

Tea Tree Gully

12

147.5

1.5681

3

Kensington

12

145.0

1.4890

4

Northern Districts

12

122.5

1.2920

5

East Torrens

12

112.5

1.5260

6

West Torrens

12

107.5

0.9848

7

Glenelg

12

97.5

1.0904

8

Port Adelaide

12

77.5

0.9486

9

Sturt

12

67.5

0.7582

10

Prospect

12

60.0

0.5947

11

Adelaide

12

12

Adelaide University

12

52.5
52.5

0.8349

0.8445

13

Southern District

12

37.5

0.5309

WEST END PREMIERSHIP TABLE – C GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Adelaide University

12

162.5

%
1.5706

2

Northern Districts

12

152.5

1.3057

3

East Torrens

12

142.5

1.3718

4

Glenelg

12

137.5

1.3836

5

Tea Tree Gully

12

122.5

1.3864

6

Kensington

12

97.5

1.0878

7

Adelaide

12

82.5

1.1491

8

Woodville

12

82.5

0.8990

9

West Torrens

12

82.5

0.8936

10

Sturt

12

77.5

0.8378

11

Prospect

12

40.0

0.6846

12

Port Adelaide

12

37.5

0.5390

13

Southern District

12

22.5

0.6321
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WEST END PREMIERSHIP TABLE - D GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Tea Tree Gully

12

175.0

%
1.7878

2

East Torrens

12

162.5

1.5433

3

Glenelg

12

152.5

1.4216

4

Kensington

12

117.5

1.0059

5

Adelaide

12

105.0

1.1379

6

Adelaide University

12

97.5

1.3648

7

West Torrens

12

97.5

0.9913

8

Woodville

12

82.5

0.8617

9

Prospect

12

75.0

0.8844

10

Sturt

12

67.5

0.7884

11

Port Adelaide

12

52.5

0.7420

12

Southern District

12

22.5

0.6909

13

Northern Districts

12

22.5

0.5551

GRAND FINAL RESULTS – OTHER GRADES
West End B Grade

Kensington 3/263 defeated Northern Districts 86

West End C Grade

East Torrens 126 defeated by Glenelg 135

West End D Grade

Tea Tree Gully 3/235 defeated Glenelg 7/234

Women’s B Grade

Adelaide University 8/105 defeated by West Torrens 5/106

Women’s B Grade Twenty20 Cup

Adelaide University 5/106 defeated by West Torrens 2/107

Under 17 BankSA Shield

Country Black drew Sturt*

Powerade Under 16 Red Grade

Kensington 133 defeated by West Torrens 4/135

Powerade Under 16 White Grade

Northern Districts 69 defeated by Tea Tree Gully 9/76

Powerade Under 14 Red Grade

West Torrens 5/153 defeated Kensington 9/151

Powerade Under 14 White Grade

Sturt 118 defeated by Kensington 6/141

Under 12 BankSA Statewide

Country Red drew Kensington*

Ray Sutton Shield

West Torrens 4/157 defeated Kensington 7/156

* Grand Final abandoned due to extreme heat

TEAMS OF
THE YEAR
GRADE TEAM OF THE YEAR
2013/2014

BANKSA UNDER 17 SHIELD
TEAM OF THE YEAR 2013/14

Kelvin Smith

West Torrens

Charlie Holmes

Kensington

Cullen Bailey

Glenelg

Cameron Pritchard

Prospect

Brad Davis

Sturt

Ben Pengelley

Country Red

Jake Lehmann

East Torrens

Wade Matthews

Prospect

Alex Ross

Kensington

Nicholas Palmer

Kensington

Jake Brown (C)

Kensington

Matthew Walmsley-Pace

Glenelg

Tim Davey (WK)

Tea Tree Gully

Joel Thiele (C)

Sturt

Trent Lawford

Adelaide

Alex Reardon

SACA Under 15

Brenton McDonald

Port Adelaide

Jack Kessell

Port Adelaide

Nick Benton

Port Adelaide

Tom Hawthorne

Country Black

Stuart Claring-Bould

Sturt

Liam Thompson

Glenelg

Carl Tietjens

Woodville

Jarrett Wilson

SAMCA

Brad Inglis (Coach)

Country Black

Coach of the Year
Andrew Rumbelow
Grade Cricket Umpire of the Year
Craig Thomas
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Kensington

SENIOR TROPHY WINNERS AT A GLANCE
WEST END A GRADE
BRADMAN MEDAL – Grade Cricketer of the Year

Jake Brown

Kensington

LMS HARGRAVE TROPHY – Most outstanding A Grade
Player under 23 years of age

Kelvin Smith

West Torrens

CRAIGIE MEMORIAL TROPHY – Batting Average

Kelvin Smith

West Torrens – 563 runs @ 93.83

CRAIGIE MEMORIAL TROPHY – Bowling Average

Jake Brown

Kensington – 36 wickets @ 13.03

WEST END TROPHY – Batting Aggregate

Cullen Bailey

Glenelg – 585 runs @ 48.75

WEST END TROPHY – Bowling Aggregate

Carl Tietjens

Woodville – 42 wickets @ 17.02

TALBOT SMITH FIELDING TROPHY

Alex Bleakley

Woodville

C. W. WALKER WICKET KEEPING TROPHY

Harry Byrnes Howe

Prospect

FRED GODSON MEDAL – West End One Day Cup
Player of the Year

Tom Andrews

Woodville

JASON GILLESPIE MEDAL – Grade Cricket
Rising Star of the Year

Tom Andrews

Woodville

GRADE CRICKET VOLUNTEER OF THE YEAR

Mick Harper

Sturt

WEST END B GRADE
K C BUTLER MEDAL – B Grade Cricketer of the Year

Thomas Clark

Woodville

BATTING TROPHY

Adam Mossop

Tea Tree Gully – 491 runs @ 44.64

BOWLING TROPHY

Thomas Clark

Woodville – 43 wickets @ 14.91

Kyle Giniotis
Matthew Primer

Northern Districts and
Tea Tree Gully

WEST END C GRADE
SID DALY MEDAL – C Grade Cricketer of the Year
BATTING TROPHY

Dillion Mullins

East Torrens – 401 runs @ 80.20

BOWLING TROPHY

Jack Dent

Northern Districts – 29 wickets @ 12.14

MCLEOD/WILSON MEDAL – D Grade Cricketer
of the Year

Andrew Duffield

East Torrens

BATTING TROPHY

Andrew Duffield

East Torrens – 568 runs @ 51.64

BOWLING TROPHY

Kyle Middleton

Sturt – 43 wickets @ 14.14

WEST END D GRADE

SENIOR GRADE CLUB AWARDS
BRADMAN MEDAL TEAM AWARD - Highest
Aggregate Bradman Medal Points

Tea Tree Gully

SCRYMGOUR TROPHY – Club Championship

Tea Tree Gully

SPIRIT OF CRICKET AWARD – Senior Grades

Southern District

BANKSA SHIELD – UNDER 17
BATTING TROPHY

Charlie Holmes

Kensington – 272 runs @ 68.00

BOWLING TROPHY

Tom Hawthorne

Country Black – 15 wickets @ 7.60

C. W. WALKER WICKET KEEPING TROPHY

Alex Reardon

SACA Under 15

WOMEN’S
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
WOMEN’S A GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts

10

171.39

2

Kensington

10

136.56

3

West Torrens

10

110.03

4

Sturt

10

94.86

5

Port Adelaide

10

59.96

6

Southern District

10

27.96

WOMEN’S A GRADE – TWENTY20
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Kensington

10

120

2

West Torrens

10

105

3

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts

10

90

4

Sturt

10

60

5

Southern District

10

60

6

Port Adelaide

10

15

WOMEN’S B GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Adelaide University

7

100.82

2

West Torrens

6

88.01

3

Sturt

7

83.39

4

Prospect

7

58.45

5

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts

7

57.78

6

Kensington Gold

7

56.92

7

Kensington Brown

7

25.47
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WOMEN’S B GRADE – TWENTY20
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Adelaide University

6

105

2

West Torrens

7

67.5

3

Sturt

7

60

4

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts

7

60

5

Kensington Brown

7

30

6

Kensington Gold

7

30

7

Prospect

7

22.5

WOMEN’S CLUB CHAMPIONSHIP
POS

CLUB

TOTAL POINTS

1

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts

229.17

2

Kensington

221.95

3

West Torrens

198.04

4

Sturt

178.75

5

Adelaide University

100.82

6

Prospect

58.45

7

Port Adelaide

59.96

8

Southern District

27.96

WOMEN’S TROPHY WINNERS AT A GLANCE
WOMEN’S A GRADE
KAREN ROLTON MEDAL – Women’s A Grade
PLAYER OF THE YEAR

Tegan McPharlin

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts

BATTING TROPHY – Aggregate

Tegan McPharlin

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts – 464 @ 66.29

BATTING TROPHY – Average

Tegan McPharlin

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts – 464 @ 66.29

BOWLING TROPHY – Aggregate

Hannah Perry

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts –
16 wickets @ 7.5 and
Southern District – 16 wickets @ 12.5

Tahlia McGrath
BOWLING TROPHY – Average

Hannah Perry

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts –
16 wickets @ 7.5

FIELDING TROPHY

Angela Moritz

West Torrens

WICKET KEEPING TROPHY

Tegan McPharlin

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts

LYN FULLSTON MEDAL – Women’s B Grade
PLAYER OF THE YEAR

Kirby Heath

Sturt

BATTING TROPHY

Taite Mackrill

West Torrens – 175 runs @ 87.50

Erika D’Cruz

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts –
159 runs @ 31.80

Cindi Gouveia

Adelaide University – 13 wickets @ 10.08

WOMEN’S B GRADE

BOWLING TROPHY

WOMEN’S GRADE CLUB AWARDS
SPIRIT OF CRICKET AWARD – Women’s Grades

Kensington District Cricket Club

PRESIDENTS TROPHY – Club Championship

Tea Tree Gully/Northern Districts

FELLOWS AWARD – Women’s Cricket Most
Outstanding Volunteer

Donna Clark

Southern District

DOT LAUGHTON TROPHY – Women’s Cricket
Junior Player/Volunteer Award

Caitlin Edmunds

West Torrens

POWERADE JUNIOR
PREMIERSHIP TABLES
POWERADE UNDER 16 RED GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Northern Districts

11

169.48

2

Kensington

11

154.51

3

Sturt

11

151.96

4

West Torrens

11

140.88

5

Tea Tree Gully

11

124.65

6

Southern District

11

106.59

7

East Torrens

11

105.76

8

Glenelg

11

105.21

9

Prospect

11

103.87

10

Woodville

11

101.40

11

Adelaide

11

73.92

12

Port Adelaide

11

42.60

POWERADE UNDER 16 WHITE GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Prospect

11

177.69

2

West Torrens

11

172.63

3

Northern Districts

11

155.46

4

Tea Tree Gully

11

148.32

5

East Torrens

11

127.04

6

Southern District

11

122.62

7

Kensington

11

122.02

8

Sturt

11

121.26

9

Glenelg

11

106.36

10

Adelaide

11

72.78

11

Woodville

11

60.44

12

Port Adelaide

11

17.56
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POWERADE UNDER 14 RED GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

West Torrens

11

185.09

2

Kensington

11

170.23

3

East Torrens

11

139.60

4

Sturt

11

129.49

5

Adelaide

11

125.56

6

Northern Districts

11

120.33

7

Glenelg

11

118.86

8

Tea Tree Gully

11

96.09

9

Southern District

11

94.33

10

Woodville

11

67.70

11

Prospect

11

56.33

12

Port Adelaide

11

40.88

POWERADE UNDER 14 WHITE GRADE
POS

CLUB

ROUNDS PLAYED

TOTAL POINTS

1

Sturt

11

188.11

2

Tea Tree Gully

11

170.15

3

Kensington

11

169.20

4

Northern Districts

11

150.58

5

Adelaide

11

119.62

6

Prospect

11

115.93

7

West Torrens

11

95.47

8

East Torrens

11

88.64

9

Southern District

11

73.94

10

Glenelg

11

72.02

11

Woodville

11

53.03

12

Port Adelaide

11

37.84

POWERADE TEAM
OF THE YEAR
POWERADE JUNIOR TEAM OF THE YEAR 2013/2014
Round 1

Bailey Capel

Under 14 Red

West Torrens

Round 2

Austin Smith

Under 16 Red

Northern Districts

Round 3

Jayden Macadam

Under 14 Red

Port Adelaide

Round 4

Caleb Travis

Under 16 White

Prospect

Round 5

Ben Hutchinson

Under 14 White

Prospect

Round 6

Cameron Fatchen

Under 16 Red

Kensington

Under 16 Red

Tea Tree Gully

Round 7

Benjamin Pye

Round 8

No nomination

Round 9

No nomination

Round 10

William Cameron

Under 16 Red

Adelaide

Round 11

Lucas Froude

Under 16 Red

Kensington

JUNIOR TROPHY WINNERS AT A GLANCE
UNDER 16 RED
POWERADE BATTING TROPHY

Benjamin Pye

Tea Tree Gully – 549 runs @ 91.50

POWERADE BOWLING TROPHY

Aaron Beaty

Glenelg – 24 wickets @ 10.04

POWERADE BATTING TROPHY

Thomas Burridge

West Torrens – 255 runs @ 31.88

POWERADE BOWLING TROPHY

Matthew Parker

UNDER 16 WHITE
East Torrens – 20 wickets @ 8.95

UNDER 14 RED
POWERADE BATTING TROPHY

Lucas Froude

Kensington – 482 runs @ 68.86

POWERADE BOWLING TROPHY

Thomas O’Connell
Brayden Gaiter

Sturt – 22 wickets @ 7.82 and
Southern District – 22 wickets @ 8.55

POWERADE BATTING TROPHY

Corey Kelly

Sturt – 501 runs @ 71.57

POWERADE BOWLING TROPHY

Bradley Harris

Tea Tree Gully – 22 wickets @ 8.05

UNDER 14 WHITE

JUNIOR GRADE CLUB AWARD
SPIRIT OF CRICKET AWARD – JUNIOR GRADES
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Port Adelaide Cricket Club

MEMBERSHIP

MEMBER RENEWALS AND NEW MEMBERS
In season 2013/14, 2,952 new financial
SACA Members took up their offer of SACA
Membership. Membership retention was the
same as last season with a 95% member
retention rate.
SACA now has a total 25,715 financial
members, with a strong waitlist of over 4,500.
There was a significant increase in the
transferable card uptake this season at 37.8%,
compared to 26% last season.
ATTENDANCE FIGURES
A total of 63,722 members attended the
Commonwealth Bank Ashes Series Test match
at Adelaide Oval between Australia and
England. Overall, 84.47% of financial members
attended at least one day of the Test match.
Member attendance for the Carlton Mid
One-Day International Series was up from
the previous season with more than 11,535
members and 6,074 transferable card holders
attending the Australia Day match between
Australia and England.
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The KFC T20 Big Bash League matches also
attracted a larger member crowd than previous
years, with a total of 20,974 members and
11,387 transferable cardholders attending the
Adelaide Strikers’ four home games.
MEMBERS DINING
The annual SACA Member Test Match Dinner
was held in the Magarey Room at Adelaide
Oval in December. SACA members enjoyed a
custom designed three course menu along
with pre-dinner drinks and canapés on the
level 5 Terrace Bar.

Over 680 guests shared the room with
representatives from the Australian cricket
team. The event was hosted by Hamish
McLachlan, nephew of former SACA President
Ian McLachlan, with guest speakers including
Australian coach Darren Lehmann, former Test
batsman and captain Kim Hughes, renowned
English commentator David Lloyd, and current
Australian players including Peter Siddle and
Nathan Lyon.
The Ladies Day Luncheon was a new event on
the cricket dining calendar. The function was
introduced specifically for our growing female
membership and celebrate the Test Match in a
more informal, light-hearted manner. Proceeds
for this lunch were donated to the Leukaemia
Foundation.
SACA’s Summer of Dining also included the
annual Jane McGrath Foundation Breakfast,
which was held on day 2 of the Test match, and
also a three course dinner at the Carlton Mid
One-Day International Series.
Many members enjoyed the daily luncheons
on offer at the Test match, with dining options in
the Ian McLachlan and Magarey rooms.
The Magarey option was introduced for
members who still wanted to enjoy a formal
dining experience, but then return to their seats
for the remainder of the day’s cricket action.
SACA’s dining offers throughout the Bupa
Sheffield Shield matches in the Phil Ridings Bar
were well supported by members, with most
days booked to capacity.

For the first time, SACA members had the
opportunity to purchase tickets to the 2013/14
Neil Dansie Medal Presentation (SACA
State Player Awards) – a night to celebrate
and acknowledge the South Australian
players, coaches and support staff for their
achievements throughout the 2013/14 season.
50 YEAR MEMBERS CLUB
SACA’s 50 Year Members were invited to
attend the SACA annual 50 Year Member’s
Luncheon, held in the Ian McLachlan Room
at Adelaide Oval in February 2014. Over 290
guests were entertained by MC Tom Rehn, SACA
President Andrew Sinclair and Chief Executive
Keith Bradshaw.
Six SACA Members were inducted into the
50 Year Members Club.
SACA 50 Year Members were provided with
reserved seating during the annual Test match
played at the Adelaide Oval.
MEMBERSHIP INCIDENT COMMITTEE 2013/14
The Membership Incident Committee met
three times during season 2013/14 and dealt
with a total of 19 incidents. To ensure the
maximum enjoyment, safety and comfort of
SACA Members and their guests, the committee
continued with a zero tolerance approach
to bad behaviour. Random signature and ID
checks were conducted at each match.

During the season, 10 members were evicted
for drunk and disorderly behaviour, six members
were evicted for offensive behaviour and three
members’ cards were confiscated as a result of
another person attempting to use the card to
enter the oval.
The Committee ruled to suspend two members
for one season, suspend four members for a
six -month period, suspend six members for
a three-month period, and to issue a written
warning to seven members.
MEMBERS ACCESS TO SACA ROOMS FOR THE
2014 AFL SEASON
SACA Members were given the exclusive
opportunity to book hospitality in the SACA
Committee and Gil Langley rooms for all
AFL games this season (excluding the Round
2 Showdown).
While SACA could have sold the rooms to
corporate clients for increased revenue, the
SACA Board believed the best option for the
use of these rooms during the AFL season was
to offer the opportunity for SACA Members to
attend and enjoy the new-look oval.
The rooms were hosted by SACA Board
members, and were offered exclusively for SACA
Members and their guests.
Both the SACA Committee Room in the
western stand and the new Gil Langley Room
on level 4 of the Riverbank Stand were well
received by members, with most matches
booked to capacity.
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MEMBERSHIP
SACA Members enjoying
events including the
second Test of the
Commonwealth Bank
Ashes Series, the Test
Match Dinner, Neil
Dansie Medal night and
Adelaide Strikers games.

SPONSORSHIP

SACA is grateful for the invaluable and
ongoing support of its partners
SACA SPONSORS

ADELAIDE STRIKERS

PRINCIPAL PARTNER

PRINCIPAL PARTNER

West End is the principal partner of the West End
Redbacks, West End Premier League and West End
Grade cricket in South Australia.

West End is the principal partner of the
Adelaide Strikers.

OFFICIAL PARTNERS

MAJOR PARTNER

BankSA is the major partner of
Country Cricket in South Australia.

Toyota is the official vehicle
partner of SACA.
People’s Choice Credit Union is the official major
partner of the Adelaide Strikers.

ASSOCIATE PARTNERS
Coca Cola is the official partner of
Junior Grade cricket and supply
partner of SACA.

Lion Dairy is an official
partner of SACA.
The Advertiser is the
official newspaper of the
Adelaide Strikers.

Grant Burge is official wine
partner of SACA.

Oaks Hotels & Resorts is an
associate partner of the
Adelaide Strikers.

SUPPLY PARTNERS

CHARITY PARTNER
Kookaburra is the official
equipment and ball supplier
of SACA.

Body Science is a supply partner
of the West End Redbacks.

Masuri is the official helmet
supplier of SACA.

Kukri is a supply partner of SACA.

Albion is a joint helmet supplier
of SACA.

Fowler Simmons Radiology is a
supply partner of the West End
Redbacks, SA Scorpions and
Emerging Redbacks.

The Leukaemia Foundation is
the official charity partner of the
Adelaide Strikers.

Step into Life is an
associate partner of the
Adelaide Strikers.

SACA BOARD OF
MANAGEMENT 2013/14
PRESIDENT/CHAIRMAN
ANDREW SINCLAIR

ROBERT HILL SMITH

SACA Board member since 2009
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Director
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Finance Committee
(alternate)

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Striker Advisory
High Performance

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Finance and Audit

DEAN MARSH

VICE-PRESIDENT
ANDREW SINCOCK
SACA Board member since 2000

NATHAN ADCOCK (Casual Vacancy)

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Chair, Game Development
Membership

SACA Board member since 2010

SACA Board member since 2000
Cricket Australia Director

SAM PARKINSON

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Bradman Collection Museum

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Chair, High Performance

CHAIR, GRADE CRICKET COMMITTEE
ANDREW CARVER

ROD PHILLIPS

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Chair, Grade Cricket
DR KEVIN GRIFFITHS
SACA Board member since 2005
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Director
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Finance Committee
SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Chair, Finance and Audit
ANDREW HILDITCH
SACA Board member since 2004
SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
High Performance
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SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Membership
Finance and Audit
SALLY NIEHUUS

SACA Board member since 2007
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Director (Alternate)
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SACA Board Member since 2012
Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd Finance Committee

SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Chair, Striker Advisory
High Performance

HON DR JOHN BANNON AO

SACA
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MANAGEMENT

SACA Board member since 2000

SACA Board member since 1999

SACA Board member since 2013
SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Grade Cricket
Striker Advisory
REX SELLERS OAM (Retired 2014)
SACA Board member since 1987
SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Finance and Audit
High Performance
ANDREA SLATTERY
SACA Board member since 2010
SACA SUB-COMMITTEES
Chair, Membership

From top left:
PRESIDENT AND CHAIRMAN
Andrew Sinclair
VICE-PRESIDENT
Andrew Sincock
Hon Dr John Bannon AO
Andrew Carver
Dr Kevin Griffiths
Andrew Hilditch
Robert Hill Smith
Dean Marsh
Sally Niehuus
Sam Parkinson
Rod Phillips
Andrea Slattery

SACA OFFICE
BEARERS 2013/14
PATRON

HONORARY LIFE MEMBERS

His Excellency Rear Admiral Kevin Scarce
AC CSC RANR
Governor of South Australia

Les Burdett OAM
Ian Chappell
Jack Clarke
Neil Dansie OAM
Sue Grose
Alan Hill
Barry Jarman OAM
Hon Ian McLachlan AO
Creagh O’Connor
Joan Ridings
Trevor Robertson
Rex Sellers OAM
Jean Starr
Daryl Wood

VICE PATRON
The Right Honorable Stephen Yarwood
Lord Mayor of Adelaide
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VICE-PRESIDENT
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Nathan Adcock
Hon Dr John Bannon AO
Andrew Carver
Dr Kevin Griffiths
Andrew Hilditch
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Sally Niehuus
Sam Parkinson
Rod Phillips
Andrea Slattery

STATE SELECTION PANEL
Darren Berry
Tim Nielsen
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Keith Bradshaw (Chief Executive)
Shane Bernhardt (General Manager,
Cricket Operations)
Craig Brooks (Manager, Human Resources)
Bronwyn Klei (General Manager,
Commercial and Strikers)
Michael McDonough (Manager, Capital Works)
Rebekah Rosser (Manager, Corporate Affairs
and Strategy)
Andrew Sweet (Manager, Finance)
Grant Warland (General Manager, Marketing,
Communications and Membership)

GRADE CRICKET COMMITTEE
Andrew Carver (East Torrens)– Chairman
Paul Charman (Southern District) -– Deputy
Chairman
Robert Snewin (Glenelg)
Anthony Rice (Kensington)
Trevor Jarman (Northern Districts)
Maurie Vast (Port Adelaide)
Dave Callan (Prospect)
Robert Young (Sturt)
Bruce Jamieson (Tea Tree Gully)
Adam Kimber (University)
Geoff Delbridge/Greg Stanford (West Torrens)
Geoff Turley (Woodville)
Neil Ricketts (Adelaide)
Lynton Donisthorpe (SACUSA)
Rod Phillips (SACA Board of Management)

OBITUARIES
BRUCE BOWLEY OAM
01/01/1922 – 14/05/2014
SACA Honorary Services Rendered Member
Served on SACA Committees
State Player for six years
President of Kensington Cricket Club

Cricket. Oh what a feeling!

From a sunset game on the beach to a Test match on the mighty MCG,
we too love our cricket. At our Altona plant, we’ve been building Australian
cars such as new Camry for Australian families for nearly 50 years, so we know
it takes commitment, teamwork and passion in the quest to improve and
continually be at our best. These are qualities we share with the Australian
cricket team. That’s why Toyota is a proud sponsor of Cricket Australia.
OFFICIAL AUTOMOTIVE PARTNER
OF THE AUSTRALIAN CRICKET TEAM

toyota.com.au

Toyota and cricket… oh what a feeling!
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT'S REPORT
The Board of Management present their report together with the financial report of the South Australian
Cricket Association Inc, (the Association) for the year ended 30 June 2014 and auditor's report thereon. This
financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Associations
Incorporation Act (SA) 1985.
The Names of Members of the Board of Management
The names of members of the Board of Management in office at any time during or since the end of the
year are:
Hon I.M. McLachlan - A.O.

Retired on 17/09/2013

A. Sinclair

President since 17/09/2013

A.T. Sincock

Vice President since 17/09/2013

R.H.D. Sellers

Retired on 31/03/2014

R.W. Hill Smith
Dr K. R. Griffiths
S. Niehuus
A.M.J. Hilditch
Hon Dr J.C. Bannon - A.O.
S.D.H. Parkinson
A. Carver
A. Slattery
D. L. Marsh
R. Phillips

Elected on 17/09/2013

N. Adcock

Appointed on 26/05/2014

The Board of Management have been in office since the start of the year to the date of this report unless
otherwise stated.
Results
The surplus of the Association for the year amounted to $3,161,027 (2013: $1,048,921).
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT'S REPORT
Review of operations
The Association continued to engage in its principal activity, the results of which are disclosed in the
attached financial statements.
Significant changes in state of affairs
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Association during the financial year, were as follows:
The Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd
As a result of entering into legally binding agreements with the Adelaide Oval SMA Limited (SMA), the
Government of South Australia and the South Australian National Football League (SANFL), the Association
ceased to provide venue management services at Adelaide Oval in October 2013. Venue management
services were provided by the SMA for the 2013/14 cricket season via an interim agreement between SMA,
Cricket Australia and the Association.
The longer term legal agreements came into effect in March 2014, resulting in SMA providing venue
management services and commencing commercial opportunities for the collective benefit of the SMA,
SANFL and the Association. The Association’s administrative offices relocated to Adelaide Oval in April 2014.
Cricket Australia
An agreement was entered into between Cricket Australia (CA) and the Association that CA be responsible
for, and own the rights to certain revenues arising from, the staging of international matches and domestic
finals matches played under the sole control and auspices of CA in the State of South Australia. Similar
agreements were entered into by each of the other State Cricket Associations. CA are now responsible for
promoting and selling public tickets to the abovementioned matches and for specified costs relating to
staging those matches.
In return, the Association receives an annual minimum guaranteed payment from CA representing the
expected net financial return from those matches. The minimum guaranteed payment that the Association
receives takes into account the additional seating capacity from the redeveloped Adelaide Oval. The
Association remains responsible for the staging of domestic (non-finals) matches in South Australia,
including match-related expenses.
Principal activities
The principal activity of the Association during the year was to deliver the sustainable growth and
development of all levels of cricket in South Australia and remain committed to the delivery of the highest
standard of sport, entertainment and events to our customers.
After balance date events
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or
may significantly affect the operations of the Association, the results of those operations, or the state of
affairs of the Association in future financial years, other than for any impact that may be caused by the
events disclosed in the "Likely developments" section below.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
Note

Revenue
Sales revenue
Other revenue

4
4

Less: expenses
Cost of Sales
Loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment
Depreciation expense
Amortisation of intangible asset
Impairment of assets
Employee benefits expense
Relocation costs due to development
Advertising expense
Finance costs
Event Expenses
Administration
Grounds and Maintenance
Cricket Expenses
SMA Related Costs
Share of net profits (net of impairment) of joint ventures accounted
for using the equity method
Other expenses

21(b)
5
14

5

12

2013
Restated
$'000

2014
$'000

42,379
1,536
43,915

29,261
1,345
30,606

(4,094)
(1,493)
(372)
(253)
(171)
(11,329)
(824)
(788)
(111)
(8,811)
(4,269)
(1,853)
(4,039)
(1,252)

(2,285)
(390)
(11,796)
(841)
(552)
(91)
(3,159)
(2,884)
(1,871)
(4,458)
(319)

688
(1,782)
(40,753)

(688)
(224)
(29,558)

3,162

1,048

-

-

3,162

1,048

Current year surplus
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2014
Note

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other financial assets
Other assets

2013
Restated
$'000

2014
$'000

7
8
9
10
11

1,335
3,480
12,403
288

1,936
658
108
9,228
329

17,506

12,259

58,847
1,561

59,100
3,024

Total non-current assets

60,408

62,124

Total assets

77,914

74,383

2,945
3
570

2,553
760

3,518

3,313

22
287

145

309

145

3,827

3,458

74,087

70,925

8,663
3,740
61,684

7,228
2,000
61,697

74,087

70,925

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Interest in joint venture
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions

12
14
15

16
22
17

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions

22
17

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Members funds
Board designated future fund reserve
Board designated facility improvement fund reserve
Accumulated surplus

18
19
20

Total members funds

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
Board
Designated
Future Fund
Reserve
$'000

Board
Designated
Facility
Improvement
Fund Reserve
$'000

Balance as at 1 July 2012

-

-

69,877

69,877

Surplus for the year attributable to
members of the entity-Restated

-

-

1,048

1,048

Total comprehensive income attributable
to members of the entity - Restated

-

-

1,048

1,048

Accumulated Total Members
Surplus
Funds
$'000
$'000

Transfer to reserves
Transfer from surplus to Board Designated
Future Fund Reserve
Transfer from surplus to Board Designated
Facility Improvement Fund Reserve

-

-

(9,228)

(9,228)

7,228

-

-

7,228

-

2,000

-

2,000

Balance as at 30 June 2013 - Restated

7,228

2,000

61,697

70,925

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
Board
Designated
Future Fund
Reserve
$'000
Balance as at 1 July 2013 - Restated

Board
Designated
Facility
Improvement
Fund Reserve
$'000

Accumulated Total Members
Surplus
Funds
$'000
$'000

7,228

2,000

61,697

70,925

Surplus for the year attributable to
members of the entity

-

-

3,162

3,162

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

3,162

3,162

Transfers to reserves
Transfer from surplus to Board Designated
Future Fund Reserve
Transfer from surplus to Board Designated
Facility Improvement Fund Reserve

-

-

(3,175)

(3,175)

1,435

-

-

1,435

-

1,740

-

1,740

Balance as at 30 June 2014

8,663

3,740

61,684

74,087

The Board of Management approved the transfer of surplus to set up two reserves as follows:
Board Designated Facility Improvement Fund Reserve - The general purpose of the fund is to help ensure the
long-term financial sustainability of the organisation's strategic investment into promoting and developing
cricket in South Australia.
Board Designated Future Fund Reserve - The general purpose of the fund is to help ensure the long-term
financial stability of the organisation and position it to respond to varying economic conditions and changes
affecting the organisation's financial position and the ability of the organisation to continuously carry out its
mission.
The sum of these reserves is supported by and reconciles to the total of the Financial Assets summarised in
Note 10.
The use and management of these funds are governed by the policy statements approved by the Board of
Management.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
Note

Cash flow from operating activities
Government grants
Receipts from cricket
Receipts from members
Receipts from catering
Receipts from ground
Payments to suppliers/employees
Interest received
Other revenue
Interest paid
Net GST paid

2014
$'000

2013
Restated
$'000

186
14,148
11,809
12,365
5,788
(41,470)
397
1,367
(111)
(2,050)

12,300
8,635
7,107
4,484
(30,338)
330
1,324
(91)
(1,663)

2,429

2,088

Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payment for property, plant and equipment
Payment for investments
Net movement in term deposits

65
(645)
(3,000)
550

(112)
(584)
(5,200)

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities

(3,030)

(5,896)

1,936
(601)

5,744
(3,808)

1,335

1,936

Net cash provided by operating activities

21(b)

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at beginning of the financial year
Net decrease in cash held
Cash at end of financial year

21(a)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board and the Associations Incorporation Act (SA) 1985.
The financial report was approved by the Board of Management as at the date of the Board of
Managements' report.
South Australian Cricket Association Inc is a not-for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial
statements.
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Association in the
preparation and presentation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently
applied, unless otherwise stated.
(a) Basis of preparation of the financial report
Historical cost convention
The financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by revaluations to
fair value for certain classes of assets as described in the accounting policies.
(b) Rounding of amounts
The amounts in the financial report and board of management's report have been rounded off to the
nearest $1,000.
(c) Income tax
No provision for income tax has been raised as the Association is exempt from income tax by the
Commissioner of Taxation under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.
(d) Inventories
Inventories acquired for catering and general merchandise are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.
For inventory acquired at no or nominal consideration, cost is the current replacement cost at the date of
acquisition.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(e) Property, plant and equipment
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
Properties that are held for strategic purpose or to provide a social service and that generate cash inflows
where the rental revenue is incidental to the purpose for holding the property, do not meet the definition of
investment properties and are classified as properties in accordance with AASB 116.
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is measured on the cost basis.
Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated over their estimated useful lives commencing from
the time the asset is held ready for use. Land component of any class of fixed asset is not depreciated.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated useful lives of the improvements.
Class of fixed asset
Plant and equipment at cost
Leasehold Improvements - Structural
Improvements
Leasehold Improvements - Other

Depreciation rates
10-40%
2%

Depreciation basis
Straight line
Straight line

10-20%

Straight line
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(f) Leases
Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic
substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.
Finance leases
Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset,
but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the Association are classified as finance leases. Finance
leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the minimum lease
payments, including any guaranteed residual values. The interest expense is calculated using the interest
rate implicit in the lease and is included in finance costs in the statement of comprehensive income.
Leased assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives where it is likely that
the Association will obtain ownership of the asset, or over the term of the lease. Lease payments are
allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.
Operating leases
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor,
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease incentives received under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the life of the lease term.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(g) Financial instruments
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Association becomes a party to the
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the
Association commits itself to either purchase or sell the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs except where the instrument
is classified 'at fair value through profit or loss in which case transaction costs are expensed to the profit or
loss immediately.
Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual right to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is
transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the
risks and benefits associated with the asset.
Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are either discharged or expire. The
difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party
and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
Classification
The Association classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial
assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Investments in listed securities are carried at fair value through profit and loss. They are measured at their
fair value at each reporting date and any increment or decrement in fair value from the prior period is
recognised in the profit and loss of the current period. Fair value of listed investments are based on closing
bid prices at the reporting date.
Non-listed investments, for which the fair value cannot be reliably measured, are carried at cost and tested
for impairment.
Held-to-maturity investments
Fixed term investments intended to be held to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. They
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(g)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are measured at fair value at inception and subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.
Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale financial assets include any financial assets not included in the above categories and are
measured at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to
equity. The cumulative gain or loss is held in equity until the financial asset is de-recognised, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss held in equity is recognised in profit and loss.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities include trade payables, other creditors and loans from third parties including
inter-company balances and loans from or other amounts due to Board of Management - related entities.
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal
payments and amortisation.
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.
(h) Impairment
Assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised but are tested annually for impairment in accordance
with AASB 136. Assets subject to annual depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or circumstances arise that indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may be
impaired.
An impairment loss is recognised where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset is defined as the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in
use.
The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows which will be received from
the assets employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to
present values in determining recoverable amounts.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(i) Interests in joint arrangements
Joint ventures
The association's interest in joint venture entities are brought to account using the equity method after
initially being recognised at cost. Under the equity method, the profits or losses of the joint venture entity is
recognised in profit or loss and the share of other comprehensive income items is recognised in other
comprehensive income. The profit or loss of the joint venture entity is recognised in profit or loss. Details
relating to the joint venture entity are set out in Note 12 and 13.
(j) Employee benefits
(i) Short-term employee benefit obligations
Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee benefits expected
to be settled within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on
remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. The expected cost of
short-term employee benefits in the form of compensated absences such as annual leave is recognised in
the provision for employee benefits. All other short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as
payables.
(ii) Long-term employee benefit obligations
Liabilities arising in respect of long service leave and annual leave which is not expected to be settled within
twelve months of the reporting date are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash
outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.
Employee benefit obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date,
regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.
(k) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks, short-term deposits with an original maturity
of three months or less held at call with financial institutions, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(l) Revenue
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have passed to the buyer and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably. Risks and rewards of ownership are considered passed to the buyer at the time of
delivery of the goods to the customer.
Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established. Dividends
received from associates and joint venture entities are accounted for in accordance with the equity method
of accounting.
Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customers.
Finance and insurance revenue is recognised when the right to receive finance and insurance revenue has
been established.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
(m) Contributions - Government Grants and Donations
A non-reciprocal contribution or grant is recognised when the entity obtains control of the contribution or
grant and it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Association, and the amount of the
contribution or grant can be measured reliably.
If conditions attached to the contribution or grant that must be satisfied before the entity is eligible to
receive the contribution, recognition of contribution or income is deferred until those conditions are met.
When the entity receives grants but is obliged to give directly approximately equal value to the contributor,
recognition of grant income will be deferred until the delivery of service.
(n) Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST
incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the
statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(o) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs can include interest, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings,
ancillary costs incurred in connection with arrangement of borrowings, foreign exchange losses net of
hedged amounts on borrowings.
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred, except for borrowing costs incurred as part of the cost of the
construction of a qualifying asset which are capitalised until the asset is ready for its intended use or sale.
(p) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Association has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, for which it is probable that an out flow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be
reliably measured.
(q) Going concern
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis.
(r) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with
current year disclosures.
(s) Intangibles
Government grants - intangible asset (Licence to use the redeveloped Adelaide Oval)
The licence to use the redeveloped Adelaide Oval has been brought to account based at its fair value, which
has been determined on the incremental future cash flows expected to flow to the entity as a result of using
a redeveloped Adelaide Oval.
The intangible asset is to be amortised over its useful life from the time the asset is held ready for use. The
intangible asset will be assessed for impairment on an annual basis and as and when an impairment trigger
is present.
Intangible assets are initially recognised at fair value. After initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Intangible acquired by way of a government grant are initially recognised at fair value in accordance with
AASB 1004. Such intangibles are amortised over their estimated useful lives and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(t) Correction of error
The Association's financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 included its share of the losses
incurred by Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd (SMA) of $306,290 based on SMA's management accounts for the
financial year ended 30 June 2013. SMA subsequently reported an audited net loss of $1,376,883. The
restatement did not have any effect on opening reserves for the year ended 30 June 2013 and the effect of
the adjusted loss on the financial statements of the Association is as follows:
30 June 2013
Current year surplus
Accumulated surplus
Trade and other payables

Previously reported
$'000
1,583
62,232
2,018

Adjustment
$'000
-535
-535
535

Restated
$'000
1,048
61,697
2,553

NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTREPRATATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT OPERATIVE AT 30 JUNE 2014
The following standards and interpretations have been issued at the reporting date but are not yet
effective. The Board of Management’ assessment of the impact of these standards and interpretations is set
out below.
(a) AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising
from AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9
(December 2010) and AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Mandatory Effective
Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosure (effective from 1 January 2015)
AASB 9 Financial Instruments improve and simplify the approach for classification and measurement of
financial assets compared with the requirements of AASB 139. The standard is not applicable until 1 January
2015 but is available for early adoption. When adopted, the standard could change the classification and
measurement of financial assets.
AASB 9 only permits the recognition of fair value gains and losses in other comprehensive income for equity
investments that are not held for trading. In the current reporting period, the association did not recognise
any other comprehensive income in relation to the movements in the fair value of available for sale
financial assets, which are not held for trading.
The Association does not have any financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss.
The new requirements only affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Therefore, there will be no impact on the Association’s accounting for financial
liabilities. The Association has decided not to early adopt AASB 9 at 30 June 2014.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTREPRATATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT OPERATIVE AT 30 JUNE
2014 (CONTINUED)
AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities, revised AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures, AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the
Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards, and AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments (effective 1 January 2014)
AASB 10 replaces all of the guidance on control and consolidation in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements, and Interpretation 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. The standard
fundamentally changes the way control is defined for the purpose of identifying those entities to be
included in the consolidated financial statements. It focuses on the need to have power over the invested,
rights or exposure to variable returns and ability to use the power to affect the amount of its returns.
Returns must vary and can be positive, negative or both. There is also new guidance on substantive rights
versus protective rights and on agent versus principal relationships. The core principle that a consolidated
entity presents a parent and its subsidiaries as if they are a single economic entity remains unchanged, as
do the accounting for consolidation.
AASB 11 does not focus on the legal structure of joint arrangements, but rather on how and what rights and
obligations are shared between parties. If the parties share the right to the net assets of the joint
arrangement, these parties are parties to a joint venture. A joint venture accounts for an investment in the
arrangement using the equity method, and the choice to proportionately consolidate will no longer be
permitted. If the parties share the right to the separate assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint
arrangement, these parties are parties to a joint operation. A joint operator accounts for assets, liabilities
and corresponding revenues and expenses arising from the arrangement by recognising their share of
interest in each item.
AASB 12 sets new minimum disclosures requirements for entities reporting under the two new standards,
AASB 10 and AASB 11, and replaces the disclosure requirements currently found in AASB 127 and AASB 128.
Application of this standard will affect the type of information disclosed in relation to the consolidated
entity’s investments as the new standard requires extensive new disclosures regarding the nature of risk
associated with the entity’s interest in other entities and the effect of those interest on its financial position,
financial performance and cash flows.
Amendments to AASB 128 provide clarification that an entity continues to apply the equity method and
does not remeasure its retained interest if an investment a joint venture becomes an associate, and vice
versa. The amendments also introduce a “partial disposal” concept.
Other standards and interpretations have been issued at the reporting date but are not yet effective.
When adopted, these standards and interpretations are likely to impact on the financial information
presented; however the assessment of impact has not yet been completed.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 3: CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Certain accounting estimates include assumptions concerning the future, which, by definition, will seldom
represent actual results. Estimates and assumptions based on future events have a significant inherent risk,
and where future events are not as anticipated there could be a material impact on the carrying amounts of
the assets and liabilities discussed below:
(a)Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
All assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting date by evaluating whether indicators of
impairment exist in relation to the continued use of the asset by the entity. Impairment triggers include
declining product or manufacturing performance, technology changes, adverse changes in the economic or
political environment or future product expectations. If an indicator of impairment exists the recoverable
amount of the asset is determined. Given the current uncertain economic environment management
considered that the indicators of impairment were significant and as such all assets have been tested for
impairment during the current financial year.
(b)Fair value measurements
Certain financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. Fair values have been determined in
accordance with fair value measurement hierarchy. Refer to Notes 14 and 25 for the details of the fair value
measure key assumptions and inputs.

2014
$'000

2013
Restated
$'000

NOTE 4: REVENUE

Sales income
Cricket Revenue
Members Subscriptions
Catering Revenue
Ground Revenue
Interest Revenue
Dividend income
Other revenue
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14,151
10,988
13,268
3,575
397
42,379

10,531
7,850
6,629
3,921
330
29,261

293
1,243
1,536

84
1,261
1,345

1,536

1,345

43,915

30,606

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
2013
Restated
$'000

2014
$'000
NOTE 5: OPERATING PROFIT
a) Current year surplus has been determined after:
Cost of sales
- Other cost of goods sold

4,094

2,285

Depreciation
- plant and equipment

372

390

Amortisation of non-current assets
- Amortisation of intangible assets

253

-

23

1

11,329

11,796

1,493

-

111

91

23
14
37

21
26
47

1,774
54
1,828

1,587
3
6
1,596

Bad debts
- other
Employee benefits:
- Other employee benefits
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets
- Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Finance costs:
- Bank charges

Remuneration of auditors for:
Audit and assurance services
- Audit of the financial report
Other non-audit services

NOTE 6: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
Compensation received by key management personnel of the Association
- short-term employee benefits
- post-employment benefits
- termination benefits
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
2013
Restated
$'000

2014
$'000
NOTE 7: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand
Cash at bank

1,335
1,335

1
1,935
1,936

604
(25)
579

449
(2)
447

164
2,737
3,480

211
658

The effective interest rate on short term bank deposits is 2.2% (2013: 2.7%).
NOTE 8: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
CURRENT
Trade debtors
Impairment loss
Other receivables
Other debtors
Amount receivable from related party (Note 24)

Impairment of trade receivables
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing with generally 30 day terms. An impairment loss is recognised
when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. The impairment losses have
been included within other expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. All trade receivables that
are not impaired are expected to be received within trading terms.
Movements in the accumulated impairment losses were:
2013
Restated
$'000

2014
$'000
2
23
25

Opening balance at 1 July
Charge for the year
Closing balance at 30 June
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20
(18)
2

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 8: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
Aged analysis
Trade receivables ageing analysis at 30 June is:
Gross
2014
$'000
Not past due
Past due 31-60 days
Past due 61-90 days
Past due more than 91 days

Impairment
2014
$'000
398
10
152
44
604

25
25

Gross
Impairment
2013 Restated 2013 Restated
$'000
$'000
413
16
16
4
2
449
2
2013
Restated
$'000

2014
$'000
NOTE 9: INVENTORIES
CURRENT
At cost
Catering Stock / Merchandise

-

108

7,753

4,028

4,650
12,403

5,200
9,228

281
7
288

329
329

NOTE 10: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
CURRENT
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Shares in listed corporations and trusts at market value
All financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are held for trading.
Held to maturity financial assets
Other investments

NOTE 11: OTHER ASSETS
CURRENT
Prepayments
Plant & equipment held for sale
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
2013
Restated
$'000

2014
$'000
NOTE 12: INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE
Net interest in the Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd

-

-

The interest in Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd is carried at $1.
The Association is entitled to a share of distributions from SMA based on its Net Profit or Loss in accordance
with the provisions of the Promoters agreement between the Association, SMA and SANFL.
The investment in the Adelaide Oval SMA Ltd (SMA) has been fully impaired as it is not expected to
generate and retain positive cash flows over the long term and is to be operated as a service entity for the
management of the Adelaide Oval for the benefit of the Association and its Joint Venture partner the South
Australian National Football League (SANFL).
In the current year the Association recognised its share of SMA profits amounting to $2,823,735, reduced by
a prior period accumulated loss reversal of $746,571.
The impairment charge amounted to $2,077,164 - refer to Note 13.
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ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 13: INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE
(a) Summarised financial information for the association's interest in SMA

Total current assets
Total non-current assets
Total current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Net assets
Trading Revenue
Trading Expenses
Trading Deficit
State Government grants and contributions (capital expenditure)
Service Fees from JV partners
Total comprehensive income
Reconciliation to carrying amount of interest in joint ventures:
Opening net assets
Add: Total comprehensive income
Closing net assets
Association's % share of net assets
Association's share of net assets
Accumulated impairment/(deficit) not recognised
Transfer to trade and other payables (Note 16)
Carrying amount of investment

2014
$'000
14,306
16,934
(19,209)
(7,876)
4,155

2013
$'000
17,363
964
(17,770)
(2,050)
(1,493)

29,970
(42,442)
(12,472)
16,429
1,691
5,648

1,059
(4,812)
(3,753)
2,376
(1,377)

(1,493)
5,648
4,155

(116)
(1,377)
(1,493)

50.0%

50.0%

2,078
(2,078)
-

(747)
59
688
-

The above Joint Venture financial information is unaudited. The above Joint Venture financial information
contains related party transactions which are disclosed at Note 24.
The Association provides financial support to the SMA in the event of 'financial difficulties' - refer to Note 23.
NOTE 14: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Licences at cost
Accumulated amortisation
Total intangible assets

59,100
(253)
58,847

- 25 -

59,100
59,100
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ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
2014
$'000

2013
Restated
$'000

NOTE 14: INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(a) Reconciliations
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning
and end of the current financial year
Licences at cost
Opening balance
Amortisation expense
Closing balance

59,100
(253)
58,847

59,100
59,100

(b) Intangible assets acquired by government grants
The Association was granted a licence agreement on the 17 November 2011 for 80 years by the
Government of South Australia for priority use of Adelaide Oval for cricket purposes during the period 8
October – 14 March annually.
The intangible assets were valued by an independent valuation dated 8 August 2012. The net fair value of
intangible assets at that date has been valued principally using the discount cash flow methodology
considering the earnings associated with the core use of the Adelaide Oval (redeveloped) and the various
other spaces of real estate allocated to the Association.
Given that the license granted is in relation to new and improved patron facilities and accommodation, the
key assumptions used in the valuation when the asset was initially recognised are as follows:
• Retention of international and domestic cricket matches;
• Growth to attendances at some international cricket matches
• Revenue derived from the introduction of a new venue membership product enabling
patron access to cricket and football fixtures;
• Enhanced quantity and quality of corporate facilities;
• Improved indoor cricket training facilities;
• Office accommodation and function spaces at no cost;
• The cash flow forecast used in the valuation relates to the period 2014 - 2034; and
• The value has been based on the incremental value of cash flows.
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2013
Restated
$'000

2014
$'000
NOTE 15: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold improvements
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Sculpture
Total leasehold improvements
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Accumulated depreciation
Total Plant and equipment

Total property, plant and equipment

914
(148)

1,434
(211)

190
956

1,223

1,228
(623)
605
-

3,621
(1,820)
1,801
-

1,561

3,024

(a) Reconciliations
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the
current financial year
Leasehold improvements
Opening carrying amount
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation expense
Closing carrying amount

1,223
299
(504)
(62)
956

1,223
55
(55)
1,223

Plant and equipment
Opening carrying amount
Additions
Disposals & transfers
Depreciation expense
Impairment
Closing carrying amount

1,801
347
(1,061)
(311)
(171)
605

2,080
57
(336)
1,801

The impairment losses recognised during 2014 represents write-downs of certain assets to its recoverable
amount as a result of obsolescence and write - down to expected proceeds on planned disposal.
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2013
Restated
$'000

2014
$'000
NOTE 16: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities
Trade creditors
Amounts payable to:
Interest in joint venture (Note 13)
Other creditors and accruals

186

874

2,759
2,945

688
991
2,553

445
125
570

418
342
760

287

145

NOTE 17: PROVISIONS
CURRENT
Annual leave
Long service leave
NON CURRENT
Long service leave

Provision for long-term employee benefits - A provision has been recognised for employee benefits relating
to long service leave for employees. In calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of long
service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is based upon historical data. The
measurement and recognition criteria for employee benefits have been included in Note 1(j).
(a) Aggregate employee benefits liability
(b) Number of employees at year end

857
69
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2014
$'000
NOTE 18: BOARD DESIGNATED FUTURE FUND RESERVE
Board designated future fund reserve

2013
Restated
$'000

8,663
8,663

7,228
7,228

The Board of Management approved the transfer of surplus to set up the above reserve.
The general purpose of the fund is to help ensure the long-term financial stability of the organisation and
position it to respond to varying economic conditions and changes affecting the organisation's financial
position and the ability of the organisation to continuously carry out its mission.
The use and management of the funds is governed by a policy statement approved by the Board of
Management.
NOTE 19: BOARD DESIGNATED FACILITY IMPROVEMENT FUND RESERVE
Board designated facility improvement fund reserve

3,740
3,740

2,000
2,000

The Board of Management approved the transfer of surplus to set up the above reserve.
The general purpose of the fund is to help ensure the long-term financial sustainability of the organisation's
strategic investment into promoting and developing cricket in South Australia.
The use and management of the fund is governed by a policy statement approved by the Board of
Management.
NOTE 20: ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
Accumulated surplus at beginning of year
Surplus of current year
Transfers to reserves
Accumulated surplus at end of the year

61,697
3,162
(3,175)
61,684
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69,877
1,048
(9,228)
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2014
$'000

2013
Restated
$'000

NOTE 21: CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash
flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial
position is as follows:
Cash on hand
Cash at bank

1,335
1,335

1
1,935
1,936

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with current year surplus
Current year surplus

3,162

1,048

Adjustments and non-cash items
Depreciation
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on sale of investment

372
171
253
1,493
-

390
535

1,115
108
(4,228)
40
(79)
(755)
2,407

651
252
(590)
(155)
(43)
1,040
2,088

Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase) / decrease in receivables
(Increase) / decrease in inventories
Increase / (decrease) in payables
Increase / (decrease) in provisions
Increase / (decrease) in GST
Cash flows from operating activities
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
Note

2013
Restated
$'000

2014
$'000

NOTE 22: CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS
(a) Operating lease commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the
financial statements:
Payable
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years

94
10
104

611
90
701

Contingent rental expenses
South Australian Cricket Association Inc. had the following significant operating leases during the year ended
30 June 2014. They are:
• The sub-underlease of Adelaide Oval, Memorial Drive, excluding the construction zone which expired
on the date of practical completion of the Adelaide Oval redevelopment;
• The lease of administrative offices situated at 21-22 Greenhill Rd, Wayville SA 5034 which expired on
30 June 2014;
• The lease of the Gillespie Centre at 23 James Congdon Drive, Thebarton SA 5031 which expired on 31
March 2014;
• The lease of an office/warehouse situated at Unit 3, 22 Ware Street, Thebarton SA 5031 which has a
lease term ending on 7 May 2015 and provides that the minimum lease payments shall be increased
by the All Groups Adelaide Consumer Price Index;
• The lease of the Womens' Memorial Playing Field comprising the whole of the land comprised
and described in Certificate of title Volume 5247 Folio 595, is a 21 years lease expiring on 30 June
2029 having a repayment of $1.00 p.a. payable on demand.
(b) Capital commitments
The Association did not have any capital commitments as at 30 June 2014 (30 June 2013: Nil), or any interest
in capital commitments through its interest in the SMA.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
2013
Restated
$'000

2014
$'000
NOTE 22: CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
(c) Finance leasing commitments
Payable
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
Minimum lease payments
Consisting of
- Capital (Current)
- Capital (Non-current)
- Interest

7
22
29

-

3
22
4
29

-

NOTE 23: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(i) The Promoters Agreement between the Association, SMA and SANFL provides a vehicle for financial
support from the Association and SANFL to SMA in the event of 'financial difficulties'.
(ii) It is possible that recent variations and ongoing negotiations relating to commercially confidential
supplier agreements may result in the outflow of economic benefits to third parties between the 2015 and
2024 financial years in a form to be agreed. It is not yet practicable to reliably measure the extent of
outflow of any resources, but is not considered material on an annual basis.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
2014
$'000

2013
Restated
$'000

NOTE 24: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Transactions with Joint Venture
Total Revenue
Total Expenses

13,030
(14,655)

21
(131)

The following balances owing between SMA and the Association are included in the Association's Statement
of Financial Position:
Amounts due by SMA
Amounts due to SMA

2,869
(2,162)

19
(192)

A loan of $3,704,447 was provided to SMA on agreed terms and conditions and during the year repayments
of $967,947 were made in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions. A balance of $2,736,500
existed as at balance date. The balance is reflected as current in Note 8.
(b) S.D.H. Parkinson - Sam Parkinson Marketing
Goods were provided by Sam Parkinson Marketing, a related entity of S.D.H. Parkinson, on commercial
terms and conditions.
Value of transactions
19

1

(c) R.W. Hill Smith - Samuel Smith & Son Pty Ltd
Goods were provided to Adelaide Oval Stadium Management Authority by Samuel Smith & Son Pty Ltd, a
related entity of R.W. Hill Smith, on commercial terms and conditions.
83
Value of transactions
(d) R. Phillips - Honorarium
An Honorarium was received from the Association in connection with services rendered as grade cricket
talent spotter on commercial terms and conditions.
3
Value of transactions

- 33 -

-

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 25: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Association is exposed to a variety of financial risks comprising:
(a) Market price risk
(b) Interest rate risk
(c) Credit risk
(d) Liquidity risk
(e) Fair values
The members of the Board of Management have overall responsibility for identifying and managing
operational and financial risks.
The Association holds the following financial instruments:
2014
$'000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
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2013 Restated
$'000

1,335
3,480
12,403
17,218

1,936
658
9,228
11,822

2,923
2,923

2,553
2,553

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 25: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk).
The Association does not have a material exposure to market price risk.

Sensitivity
Investments in listed securities at fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair value at reporting
date based on current bid prices. If security prices were to increase/decrease by 10% from fair values as at
the reporting date, assuming all other variables that might impact on fair value remain constant, then the
impact on profit for the year and equity is as follows:
Listed securities
+/- 10% price variation
Impact on surplus

2014
$'000

2013 Restated
$'000
775
403
775
403

(b) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as
a result of changes in market interest rates.
The association's exposure to interest rate risk in relation to future cash flows and the effective weighted
average interest rates on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities is limited to its cash and cash
equivalents (Note 7), which attracted interest at a weighted average rate of 2.2%. (2013: 2.7%).
(c) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation.
Credit risk is managed and reviewed regularly by management. It arises from exposures to customers and
through deposits with financial institutions.
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date
of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for impairment of
those assets, as disclosed in statement of financial position and notes to financial statements.
Credit risk for derivative financial instruments arises from the potential failure by counterparties to the
contract to meet their obligations. The credit risk exposure of forward exchange contracts is the net fair
value of these contracts.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 25: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
The Association does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors
under financial instruments entered into by the Association.
The Association minimises concentrations of credit risk in relation to trade receivables by undertaking
transactions with a large number of customers.
(i) Cash deposits
Credit risk for cash deposits is managed by holding all cash deposits with major Australian financial
institutions having a credit rating of not less than BBB+ or being an Approved Deposit Taking Institution
(ADI)
(ii) Trade receivables
Credit risk for trade receivables is managed by setting credit limits and completing credit checks for new
customers. Outstanding receivables are regularly monitored for payment in accordance with credit terms.
The aging analysis of trade and other receivables is provided in Note 8. As the Association undertakes
transactions with a large number of customers and regularly monitors payment in accordance with credit
terms, the financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired, are expected to be received in
accordance with the credit risk.
(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.
The Association manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate
unutilised borrowing facilities are maintained.
(e) Fair values
The net fair values of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market bid price at balance date
adjusted for transaction costs expected to be incurred. For other assets and liabilities the net fair value
approximates their carrying value. No financial assets are readily traded on organised markets in
standardised form other than listed investments. Financial assets where the carrying amount exceeds net
fair value have not been written down as the Association intends to hold these assets to maturity.
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying amounts as disclosed in
statement of financial position and notes to financial statements.
The net fair value of intangible assets has been valued principally using the discount cash flow methodology
considering the earnings associated with the core use of the Adelaide Oval (redeveloped) and the various
other spaces of real estate allocated to the Association.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
NOTE 26: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
There has been no matter or circumstance which has arisen since 30 June 2014 that has significantly
affected or may significantly affect:
(a)
the operations, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2014, of the Association, or
(b)
the results of those operations, or
(c)
the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2014, of the Association,
other than the effect of the events disclosed in the "Likely developments" section of this report.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
Note

2014
$'000

2013
Restated
$'000

NOTE 27: CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Board of Management controls the capital of the Association in order to maintain a good debt-to-equity
ratio and to ensure that the Association can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.
The Association's debt and capital includes financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.
The Board of Management effectively manage the Association's capital by assessing the Association's
financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks. These responses
include the effective management of debt levels and the restructure of their debt liability, if any.
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by the Board of Management to control the capital of
the Association since the prior year. This strategy is to ensure that there is sufficient cash to meet trade and
sundry payables and borrowings, as and when they fall due.
The gearing ratios for the years ended 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2014 are calculated below:
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other Payables
2,923
Less cash and cash equivalents
(1,335)
Net debt
1,588

2,553
(1,936)
617

Total Members Funds
Total Debt plus Members Funds

74,087
75,675

70,925
71,542

2.10%

0.86%

Gearing Ratio: Net Debt/(Net Debt + Total Members Funds)
NOTE 28: ASSOCIATION DETAILS
The registered office of the Association is:
South Australian Cricket Association Inc
Adelaide Oval
War Memorial Drive
North Adelaide SA 5006
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC
ABN 94 694 912 780
REPORT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

In accordance with Section 35(5) of the Associations Incorporations Act (SA) 1985, the Board of
Management of South Australian Cricket Association Inc hereby states that during the financial
year:

a. (i) no officer of the Association
(ii) no firm of which an officer is a member; and
(iii) no body corporate in which an officer has a substantial financial interest,

Has received or become entitled to receive a benefit as a result of a contract between
the officer, firm or body corporate and the Association, except for the following:
2014
$’000

2013
$’000

(a) S.D.H. Parkinson - Sam Parkinson Marketing
Goods were provided by Sam Parkinson Marketing, a
related entity of S.D.H. Parkinson, on commercial terms
and conditions.

19

1

(b) R.W. Hill Smith - Samuel Smith & Son Pty Ltd
Goods were provided to Adelaide Oval Stadium
Management Authority by Samuel Smith & Son Pty Ltd,
a related entity of R.W. Hill Smith, on commercial terms
and conditions.

83

0

3

0

(c) R. Phillips - Honorarium
An Honorarium was received from the Association in
connection with services rendered as a grade cricket
talent spotter on commercial terms and conditions.

b. no officer of the Association has received directly or indirectly from the Association any
payment or other benefit of pecuniary value.
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THE BEER BEHIND CRICKET
IN SOUTH AUSTRALIA.
it pays to be a local

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN
CRICKET ASSOCIATION INC.

South Australian Cricket Association Adelaide Oval North Adelaide 5006 South Australia
Telephone 08 8300 3800 Facsimile 08 8231 4346 www.saca.com.au

